
   

 
 

 

NOTTINGHAM CITY COUNCIL 

HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
Date: Thursday, 11 July 2019 
 
Time:  10.00 am (pre-meeting for all Committee members from 9:30am) 
 
Place: Ground Floor Committee Room - Loxley House, Station Street, Nottingham, 

NG2 3NG 
 
Councillors are requested to attend the above meeting to transact the following 
business 

 
Corporate Director for Strategy and Resources 
 
Governance Officer: Zena West   Direct Dial: 0115 876 4305 
 
 

   
1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
 

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

 

3  MINUTES  
To agree the minutes of the meeting held 13 June 2019 
 

3 - 6 

4  GP PROVISION IN NOTTINGHAM  
 

Verbal 

5  CLEANLINESS AT NUH TRUST HOSPITALS  
Report of the Head of Legal and Governance 
 

7 – 8 

6  FLU IMMUNISATION PROGRAMME  
Report of the Head of Legal and Governance 
 

9 – 26 

7  ICS CLINICAL SERVICES STRATEGY  
Report of the Head of Legal and Governance 
 

27 – 82 

8  HEALTH SCRUTINY WORK PROGRAMME  
Report of the Head of Legal and Governance 
 

83 – 86 

IF YOU NEED ANY ADVICE ON DECLARING AN INTEREST IN ANY ITEM ON THE 
AGENDA, PLEASE CONTACT THE GOVERNANCE OFFICER SHOWN ABOVE, IF 
POSSIBLE BEFORE THE DAY OF THE MEETING  
 

Public Document Pack



CITIZENS ATTENDING MEETINGS ARE ASKED TO ARRIVE AT LEAST 15 MINUTES 
BEFORE THE START OF THE MEETING TO BE ISSUED WITH VISITOR BADGES 
 
CITIZENS ARE ADVISED THAT THIS MEETING MAY BE RECORDED BY MEMBERS 
OF THE PUBLIC. ANY RECORDING OR REPORTING ON THIS MEETING SHOULD 
TAKE PLACE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE COUNCIL’S POLICY ON RECORDING AND 
REPORTING ON PUBLIC MEETINGS, WHICH IS AVAILABLE AT 
WWW.NOTTINGHAMCITY.GOV.UK. INDIVIDUALS INTENDING TO RECORD THE 
MEETING ARE ASKED TO NOTIFY THE GOVERNANCE OFFICER SHOWN ABOVE IN 
ADVANCE.



 

NOTTINGHAM CITY COUNCIL  
 
HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
MINUTES of the meeting held in the Ground Floor Committee Room - Loxley 
House, Station Street, Nottingham, NG2 3NG on 13 June 2019 from 10:03am to 
11:12am 
 
Membership  
Present Absent 
Councillor Georgia Power (Chair) 
Councillor Cate Woodward (Vice Chair) 
Councillor Samuel Gardiner 
Councillor Phil Jackson 
Councillor Kirsty Jones 
Councillor Angela Kandola (items 1-6) 
Councillor Dave Liversidge 
Councillor AJ Matsiko 
Councillor Lauren O`Grady 

Councillor Merlita Bryan 
Councillor Maria Joannou 
Councillor Anne Peach 
 

  
Colleagues, partners and others in attendance:  
Lucy Dadge - Director of Commissioning, Nottingham City Clinical 

Commissioning Group 
Adrian Mann - Governance Officer 
Zena West - Senior Governance Officer 
 
1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
Councillor Merlita Bryan - Council business 
Councillor Anne Peach - personal reasons 
 
2  DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS 

 
None. 
 
3  APPOINTMENT OF THE VICE CHAIR 

 
RESOLVED to appoint Councillor Cate Woodward as Vice Chair of the Health 
Scrutiny Committee for the current municipal year (May 2019 to April 2020). 
 
4  MINUTES 

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 21 March 2019 were confirmed as a true record 
and signed by the Chair. 
 
5  HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE TERMS OF REFERENCE 

 
The Committee noted its Terms of Reference, which remained unchanged following 
the Council AGM on 20 May 2019. 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Health Scrutiny Committee - 13.06.19 

 

 
6  UPDATE ON TREATMENT CENTRE PROCUREMENT 

 
Lucy Dadge, Director of Commissioning at Nottingham City Clinical Commissioning 
Group (CCG), gave a verbal report on the change of contract for the operation of the 
Nottingham Treatment Centre from Circle Healthcare to the Nottingham University 
Hospitals Trust (NUH). The following points were discussed: 
 
(a) the contract procurement process was subject to significant legal proceedings that 

are not yet fully concluded, but it has reached the stage where it is lawful to award 
the contract to NUH. The CCG is fully committed to working with both the new 
and departing provider and is confident that an effective handover will be 
achieved within the two months available, with the change taking effect from 29 
July 2019. This includes ensuring that the existing staff are engaged in the 
transition to the new provider, that the IT system transfer is managed effectively, 
and that the right equipment is in place, so there is no disruption to the continuity 
of appointments or to patient safety; 

 
(b) it is not proposed to make any changes to the current staffing, roles or terms of 

employment as part of this process, and staff are being kept fully informed. The 
provision of support services (such as cleaning and café staff) will be discussed 
between the providers, but some of these services are supplied to the Centre by 
NUH already. NUH will need to bring the new contract in line with its other core 
services, but it should consider continuing any existing, positive measures in the 
workplace that improve staff satisfaction and wellbeing. The primary focus of the 
CCG is on patient wellbeing, but it will discuss with the new provider measures for 
how staff satisfaction can improve outcomes for patients; 

 
(c) the award of the contract to a new provider does not change the expected 

outcomes for patients, which are set by the CCG, though NUH may choose to 
deliver them in a different way. There will be a strong focus on the continuity and 
maintenance of the standards of outcomes for patients, particularly at the point of 
transition. The contract transfer will go ahead in the context of difficult 
relationships in an intensive period, but the set handover date now provides a 
strong point of focus and full measures are in place to ensure that there are no 
issues for patient safety; 

 
(d) if any bedding-in measures are required on a temporary basis, such as meeting 

existing appointments at an alternative delivery centre, there will be a requirement 
for strong and effective communication. However, no services will stop as part of 
the transition process. The CCG has a full commitment to ensure that effective 
medical provision is in place up to and across the handover date, and that the 
right skills and competencies are deployed to ensure success in an evolving 
healthcare environment; 

 
(e) the ultimate legal fees relating to the procurement for the Centre provider will be 

published when the process has fully concluded. The CCG has ensured that the 
necessary resources are available to ensure that the transition is successful. A 
specialist IT team has been put in place to ensure that all patient records are 
transferred accurately and successfully. The new and outgoing providers are in 
discussion relating to the current medical equipment present in the Centre. It is 

Page 4



Health Scrutiny Committee - 13.06.19 

 

hoped as much of it as possible will remain in place, to minimise disruption. All 
costs relating to the management and operation of the Centre will be met by the 
new provider through the contracted tariff awarded to it by the CCG; 

 
(f) the current procurement process for the Nottingham Treatment Centre has been 

long and difficult. A general consultation is underway on the award of NHS 
contracts, and this is an active policy area on a national level. As such, it remains 
to be seen what the overall context will be when the new contract comes to an 
end, in five years’ time. 

 
RESOLVED to: 
 
(1) note the verbal report on the change of contract for the operation of the 

Nottingham Treatment Centre from Circle Healthcare to the Nottingham 
University Hospitals Trust; 

 
(2) receive a written update on the transition of providers from the Nottingham 

City Clinical Commissioning Group within 4 to 6 months; 
 
(3) call the case back for a report to a future meeting of the Committee if any 

major issues in the transition of providers arise. 
 
7  HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 

 
Zena West, Senior Governance Officer, presented the proposed work programme for 
the 2019/20 municipal year. The following points were discussed: 
 
(a) for the July meeting of the Committee, the work programme includes a review of 

the Independent Clinical Services’ Clinical Services Strategy, hospital cleanliness 
and the flu immunisation programme statistics for 2018/19. Public Health will be 
invited to join the meeting; 

 
(b) the local CCG will be asked to report on GP surgery closures at the July meeting, 

with an update on the Care Quality Commission’s recent decision for the 
immediate closure of a City clinic, the reasons why the clinic had to be closed, 
and how its patients were supported in moving to a new practice. 

 
RESOLVED to note the work programme. 
 
8  CONFIRMATION OF FUTURE MEETING DATES 

 
RESOLVED to meet on the following Thursdays at 10:00am: 

 11 July 2019 

 12 September 2019 

 17 October 2019 

 14 November 2019 

 12 December 2019 

 16 January 2020 

 13 February 2020 

 12 March 2020 

 16 April 2020 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 

HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

11 JULY 2019 

CLEANLINESS AT NUH TRUST HOSPITALS  

REPORT OF HEAD OF LEGAL AND GOVERNANCE 

 
1 Purpose 
 
1.1 To review progress by Nottingham University Hospitals NHS Trust in 

improving standards of cleanliness at its sites. 
 
2 Action required 
 
2.1 The Committee is asked to: 
 

a) review the action taken by Nottingham University Hospitals NHS 
Trust to improve cleanliness at its site; and 

 
b) decide whether it is satisfied with progress or whether any further 

scrutiny is required. 
 

3 Background information 
 

3.1 In January 2017 Nottingham University Hospitals NHS Trust and 
Carillion mutually agreed a managed exit from the cleaning contract and 
that services would be returned in-house by 1 April 2017.  

 
3.2 Councillors requested an update on action to improve cleanliness 

standards, which was presented to the December 2017 meeting of the 
Committee. Councillors were pleased to hear of substantial improvement 
in cleanliness. 

 
3.3 Professor Mandie Sunderland, Chief Nurse, and Andrew Chatten, 

Director of Estates & Facilities (both from NUH) will be attending the 
meeting to talk about the action that has been taken to improve 
cleanliness standards at NUH sites 

 
4 List of attached information 
 
4.1 None. 
 
5 Background papers, other than published works or those 

disclosing exempt or confidential information 
 
5.1 None. 
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 5



 

6 Published documents referred to in compiling this report 
 
6.1 Agenda, reports and minutes from the meeting of Health Scrutiny 

Committee held 14 December 2017: 
https://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=614
&MID=6885#AI21534  

 
7 Wards affected 
 
7.1 All. 
 
8 Contact information 
 
8.1 Zena West, Senior Governance Officer 
 Zena.west@nottinghamcity.gov.uk 
 0115 876 4305 

Page 8

https://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=614&MID=6885#AI21534
https://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=614&MID=6885#AI21534
mailto:Zena.west@nottinghamcity.gov.uk


 

HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

11 JULY 2019 

FLU IMMUNISATION PROGRAMME  

REPORT OF HEAD OF LEGAL AND GOVERNANCE 

 
1 Purpose 
 
1.1 To review the performance of the seasonal flu immunisation programme 

2018/19 and the effectiveness of work to improve uptake rates. 
 
2 Action required 
 
2.1 The Committee is asked to: 
 

a) scrutinise the local approach to seasonal flu vaccinations in 
Nottingham and work to increase uptake in target groups; and 

 
b) identify any recommendations for improvement to inform the 

seasonal flu immunisation programme 2018/19. 
 
3 Background information 

 
3.1 NHS England is responsible for commissioning the seasonal flu 

immunisation programme and providing system leadership. Contracts to 
provide immunisation services are held with a range of providers 
including GP practices, school aged providers and pharmacies. The 
effectiveness of the programme depends on the uptake of the vaccine 
being high and equitable across the eligible population. In support of 
this, the NHS England team has a role in supporting providers as well as 
monitoring uptake and taking action where uptake could be improved, 
whilst acknowledging that vaccination is also a choice for those eligible 
to receive it. 

 
3.2 The Local Authority Director of Public Health has an assurance function 

in relation to ensuring immunisation arrangements are fit for purpose and 
delivering service of high quality. Locally, work takes place through the 
Health Protection Strategy Group which has an oversight role. 

 
3.3 Over the last few years the Committee has focused on reviewing 

performance of the seasonal flu immunisation programme because it not 
only impacts on the individual but also contributes to reducing winter 
pressures on health and social care services. 

 
3.4 Shade Agboola, Consultant Director of Public Health at Nottingham City 

Council, and Sarah Mayfield, Screening & Immunisation Manager at 
Public Health England, will be attending the meeting to present 
information and answer the Committee’s questions. 

 

Page 9

Agenda Item 6



 

4 List of attached information 
 
4.1 Information from NHS England and Local Authority Public Health 

reviewing the seasonal flu immunisation programme 2018/19. 
 
5 Background papers, other than published works or those 

disclosing exempt or confidential information 
 
5.1 None. 
 
6 Published documents referred to in compiling this report 
 
6.1 Agendas, reports and minutes to previous Health Scrutiny Committee 

meetings:  

20 October 2016 
https://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CI
d=614&MId=6234&Ver=4 

20 July 2017 
https://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CI
d=614&MId=6342&Ver=4 

19 July 2018: 
https://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CI
d=614&MId=7242&Ver=4  

 
7 Wards affected 
 
7.1 All. 
 
8 Contact information 
 
8.1 Zena West, Senior Governance Officer 
 Zena.west@nottinghamcity.gov.uk 
 0115 876 4305 

Page 10

https://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=614&MId=6234&Ver=4
https://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=614&MId=6234&Ver=4
https://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=614&MId=6342&Ver=4
https://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=614&MId=6342&Ver=4
https://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=614&MId=7242&Ver=4
https://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=614&MId=7242&Ver=4
mailto:Zena.west@nottinghamcity.gov.uk


1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

11th July 2019 

 

NHS England North Midlands Screening and Immunisation Team 

 

Review of Seasonal Influenza (Flu) Immunisation Programme 2018-2019 

 

  

Page 11



2 
 

Table of Contents 

 

Purpose ............................................................................................................................................................... 3 

Action Required .................................................................................................................................................. 3 

Background Information ..................................................................................................................................... 3 

Commissioning Arrangements and Responsibilities ........................................................................................... 5 

Local Initiatives to increase flu vaccination uptake in 2017/18 .......................................................................... 5 

National Context ................................................................................................................................................. 7 

National Vaccine Uptake 2017/18 ...................................................................................................................... 7 

Summary of successes ...................................................................................................................................... 13 

Current Challenges in Increasing Flu Vaccination Uptake and Planned Activity .............................................. 13 

Ambitions for next flu season. ........................................................................................................................ 132 

Planned initiatives to improve uptake for next flu season ............................................................................. 143 

Conclusion ....................................................................................................................................................... 143 

References ...................................................................................................................................................... 154 

 

  

Page 12



3 
 

Purpose 

 

This paper describes the performance of the seasonal influenza (flu) immunisation 

programme in Nottingham City which falls under NHS England North Midlands footprint. 

The paper outlines the strategies implemented to improve quality and performance in 

2018/19 and plans to increase uptake in 2019/20. 

Action Required  

 

The Committee is asked to scrutinize the local strategic approach to flu vaccination in 

Nottingham and recommend ways to increase uptake in target groups.  The Screening and 

Immunisation Team will outline how partners across Nottingham City are working together 

to increase uptake in order to inform discussion.   

Background Information  

 

Flu is a common infectious viral illness spread by droplets from coughs and sneezes. Whilst 

it can be very unpleasant, most individuals begin to feel better within about a week. 

Conversely older people, those with long-term conditions such as heart and lung disease, 

pregnant women and young children can develop more serious symptoms requiring 

hospitalisation and can, in some instances, lead to death.  

 

Groups eligible for flu vaccination are based on the advice of the Joint Committee on 

Vaccination and Immunisation (JCVI). The national flu immunisation programme aims to 

provide direct protection to those who are at higher risk of flu associated morbidity and 

mortality. The objective of the national flu plan is to actively offer flu vaccination to 100% of 

those in eligible groups. 

 

Frontline health and social care workers should be provided with flu vaccination by their 

employer. This should form part of the organisations’ policy for the prevention of 

transmission of infection (flu) to help protect patients, residents, and service users.  

A Flu Plan5 is developed each year which sets out a coordinated and evidence-based 

approach to planning for, and responding to, the demands of flu across England. In 

Page 13



4 
 

November 2017 NHS England announced that there would be funding up to £10m for the 

2017/18 flu season to support the delivery of flu immunisation for social care workers that 

offer direct patient/client care. This was delivered by community pharmacies that were 

registered to deliver the seasonal flu advanced service.  The scheme was continued in 

2018/19 and extended to include health and care staff in the voluntary managed hospice 

sector that offer direct patient/client care. 

 

In 2018/1, three types of flu vaccine were used in the flu programme. This would ensure 

that patients received the most suitable vaccine that gives them the best protection against 

flu. The three vaccines were: 

 

Adjuvanted trivalent flu vaccine (aTIV) - This is licensed for people aged 65 years and over 

and is the vaccine recommended by the Joint Committee on Vaccination and Immunisations 

(JCVI) for this age group.  

 

Quadrivalent vaccine (QIV) - This is recommended for children aged from 6 months to 2 

years and in adults from 18 years to less than 65 years of age who are at increased risk from 

flu because of a long term health condition. 

 

In general practice and via school based programmes - Live attenuated influenza vaccine 

(LAIV) - This is a nasal spray and is licensed for children and young people from 2 years old 

to less than 18 years of age. The age groups targeted in England for this vaccine in 2018/19 

are two and three year olds (through their GP surgery) and school aged children in reception 

class 

through to Year 5 (through schools). If LAIV is clinically contraindicated QIV is used in this 

age group. Both are ordered centrally from Vaccine Supply. 

 

In 2018/19 the one change in eligibility was the extension to an additional cohort of 

children, those in school year 5. Therefore, in 2018/19 the following are eligible for flu 

vaccination: 

 all children aged two to nine (but not ten years or older) on 31 August 2018 

 all primary school-aged children in former primary school pilot areas 

Page 14



5 
 

 those aged six months to under 65 years in clinical risk groups 

 pregnant women 

 those aged 65 years and over 

 those in long-stay residential care home 

 carers 

 

Commissioning Arrangements and Responsibilities  

 

NHS England is responsible for commissioning all of the national immunisation programmes. 

Details of the national commissioning arrangements for immunisation programmes are 

described in NHS public health functions agreement 2016-172 and NHS public health 

functions agreement 2017-183 

 

Table 1: The flu programme was commissioned and delivered via various providers and is 

described in table 1.  

Service Provider Cohort  

GP Practices  Healthy Children aged 2, and 3 years 

 Those in an ‘at risk’ category (long term condition) aged 6 

months -65 years 

 Over 65’s 

 Pregnant women 

School Aged 

Providers 

 Children in school  reception, years  1 to 5 (4-9 years of 

age) 
 

Pharmacies  Over 18’s in an ‘at risk’ category (long term condition) 

 Over 65’s 

 

Local Initiatives to increase flu vaccination uptake in 2018/19 

 

Maternity/Pregnant women 

For the second year, flu vaccination was offered in maternity services at Nottingham 

University Hospitals NHS Trust (NUH). NUH used a model with designated midwives offering 

Flu and pertussis immunisation in the antenatal clinic. 

 

Page 15



6 
 

  

Page 16



7 
 

Children 

For a second year, the Child Health Information service was commissioned to send a letter 

to all parents of children aged 2 and 3 years old across Nottingham City. The initiative was 

first piloted in Derby City, Nottingham City CCG and Mansfield and Ashfield CCG in 2017/18.  

An invitation letter was sent to parents of eligible children aged 2 and 3 year olds in 

November 2018, reminding them to book an appointment with their child’s GP for flu 

vaccination. 

 

School Aged Immunisation 

NHS England (North Midlands) commissioned Nottinghamshire County Health Partnership 

(Nottingham County & City), Derbyshire Community Health Services (Derbyshire County) 

and Nottingham City Care (Derby City) to provide School Aged Immunisation Services. 

 

In addition to the increased cohorts the school aged immunisation service had to cover for 

this season (Reception and year 5 cohort) an initiative targeting special schools was 

undertaken across Derbyshire County and Nottinghamshire. All children outside of the 

National Healthy Children’s Flu Programme in Special Schools (Y5-14) were identified and 

offered flu vaccination. Home schooled children were also prioritised working closely with 

the local authorities. 

 

At Risk Patients 

Nottingham University Hospitals NHS Trust renal and gastroenterology services were 

commissioned to offer flu immunisation to all renal dialysis patients and some patients with 

cirrhosis. Notification of patients’ vaccinations was sent to the GPs within two days 

electronically to avoid double vaccination. 

 

National Context 

Higher levels of flu activity were observed in 18/19, especially in   

November/December/January.  The impact of influenza was predominantly seen in older 

adults, with a consistent pattern of outbreaks in care homes noted. Admissions to hospital 

Page 17



8 
 

and ICU/HDU particularly amongst older adults were observed and the impact on general 

practice was high during the months of November 2017 to January 2018.  

National Vaccine Uptake 2018/19 

Influenza vaccine uptake in 2018 to 2019 in England was lower than the 2017 to 2018 

season in under 65 year olds in a pre-defined clinical risk group (48% vs 49.7%), in pregnant 

women (45.2% vs 47%) and also lower in the over 65 year olds (72% vs72.9%). 

 

In 2018 to 2019, the universal childhood influenza vaccine programme with live attenuated 

influenza vaccine (LAIV) was offered to all healthy two, and three year olds across the UK. 

Uptake in all 2 year olds increased from 42.3% in 2017/18 to 43.8% in 2018/19. Uptake in all 

3 year olds increased from 44.2% in 2017/18 to 45.9% in 2018/19.   The school based 

childhood flu programme achieved uptake of 60% which is an increase from last year’s 

uptake of 59.5%. 

 

Influenza Vaccination Uptake in Nottingham City in 2018/19 

 

Based on the national Annual Flu Plan for 2018/19 and previous year uptake rates, the 

Screening and Immunisation Team developed a local Derbyshire and Nottinghamshire Flu 

Assurance plan, which aimed to increase uptake rates amongst children 2 and 3 year olds; 

pregnant women and patients with underlying health conditions. The tables and figures 

below describe uptake in eligible groups.  

Table 2: Flu vaccination uptake rates in Nottingham City between 1st September 

2018 and 31st January 2019 (2017/18 data are in brackets). 

  
CCG 

65 and over Under 65 
(at-risk 
only) 

All 
Pregnant 
Women 

All Aged 2 All Aged 3 

Nottingham 
City 

72.4(72.8) 47.5 (48.1) 40.0 (41.1) 44.5 (44.2) 42.2(45.1) 

All 
Derby/Notts 
CCGS 

75.2 (75.3) 50.9(51.1) 48.6(50.2) 50.4(50.1) 50.3(50.1) 

England 
Average 

72.0(72.6) 48.0(48.7) 45.2(47.2) 43.8(42.8) 45.9(44.2) 

Source: Seasonal Flu Vaccine Uptake in GP patients: Final data from 1st September 2018 – 31st January 2019 

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/seasonal-flu-vaccine-uptake-in-gp-patients-winter-2018-to-2019 

 

Page 18

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/seasonal-flu-vaccine-uptake-in-gp-patients-winter-2018-to-2019


9 
 

In Nottingham City, Flu vaccination uptake during the 2018/19 programme decreased in all 

of the above groups except in Children aged 2 years where a slight increase was observed.   

 

The following figures compare Nottingham’s flu vaccination uptake in comparison to 

England and other core cities and the national target/ambition for each of the vaccination 

cohorts where comparators are available: 

 Adults aged 65 years and older 

 At risk groups excluding pregnant women 

 Pregnant women 

 Children aged 2 and 3 years 

 

Figure 1 illustrates that the proportion of adults aged 65 years and older receiving the flu 

vaccination in Nottingham has remained constant in 2018/19 and the England average has 

decreased. An additional 1,134 citizens aged 65 years and over in Nottingham would require 

vaccination in order to reach the 75% target.  It is worth noting the gap between 

Nottingham and the England average is at the lowest level since 2011/12. Closing the gap 

with the national uptake is a big achievement for Nottingham City.   

 

68.0

69.0

70.0

71.0

72.0

73.0

74.0

75.0

76.0

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

C
o

ve
ra

ge
 (

%
) 

Seasonal Flu Year 

Population vaccination coverage (flu) in adults 65 and over 

Nottingham England Target

Source: PHE 

Page 19



10 
 

Figure 2 illustrates that the proportion of at risk individuals aged 6 months to 65 years 

(excluding pregnant women) receiving the flu vaccination in Nottingham increased slightly in 

2018/19 whilst the England average has decreased. An additional 3,296 ‘at risk’ citizens in 

Nottingham would require vaccination in order to reach the 55% ambition/target.  

 

 

Figure 3 below illustrates a decrease in uptake amongst pregnant women in Nottingham in 

2018/19 in line with the national average. The gap between Nottingham and the England 

average has reduced from 7.2pp (2016/17) to 5.0pp (2018/19). An additional 710 pregnant 

women in Nottingham would require vaccination in order to reach the 55% ambition/target.  

 
 

30

35

40

45

50

55

60

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

C
o

ve
ra

ge
 (

%
) 

Seasonal Flu Year 

Population vaccination coverage (flu) in at risk individuals aged 6 months 
to 65 years (excluding pregnant women) 

Nottingham City England Target

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

C
o

ve
ra

ge
 (

%
) 

Seasonal Flu Year 

Population vaccination coverage (flu) in pregnant women 

Nottingham England Target

Source: PHE 

Page 20



11 
 

Figure 4 illustrates a decrease in uptake rate for two to three year olds in Nottingham in 

2018/19 and an increase in the national average. An additional 1497 two to three year olds 

in Nottingham would require vaccination in order to reach the 60% target. The national 

target is set at 40-60%. This may seem low but vaccinating over 30% of children will provide 

the community with a high level of herd immunity 

 
 

Pharmacy Flu Provision 

Pharmacies were commissioned at a national level last year and continue to deliver the 

seasonal flu vaccination to those eligible, over the age of 18 years.  National data is not 

available and local data is not validated.  

  

Core Cities 

Comparison with core cities, rather than the England average, is arguably a better 

comparison of Nottingham’s performance. Liverpool, City of Bristol and Sheffield local 

authorities are co-terminus with CCGs which is the reporting format for 2018/19; 

consequently they may allow a more sensible comparison. As table 3 illustrates Nottingham 

City performance is better than Liverpool and Birmingham in all 5 groups. For example, flu 

vaccination uptake in 2 year olds is 6.8 percentage points (pp) higher than Liverpool and 

5.5pp higher than Birmingham.  

 

30.0%

35.0%

40.0%

45.0%

50.0%

55.0%

60.0%

65.0%

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

U
p

ta
ke

 (
%

) 

Seasonal Flu Year 

Figure 4: Population vaccinated coverage 2 to 3 year olds 

Nottinhgham England Target

Source: PHE  

Page 21



12 
 

Table 3: Uptake of influenza vaccine for the over 65s, under 65s at risk, pregnant women 

and children aged 2,and 3 years for Nottingham Local authority and ‘core cities’ and 

England for seasonal flu period 1 September 2018 to 31 January 2019 (2017/18 in 

brackets)                                                                                                                         

Country 
 & Local Authority 

% over 65 
years 

Under 65 (at 
risk only) 

Pregnant 
women 

All 2 year 
olds 

All 3 year 
olds 

England 72.0(72.6) 48.0(48.9) 45.2 (47.2) 43.8 (42.8) 45.9 (44.2) 

Newcastle upon Tyne 74.4 (75.6) 48.8 (50.2) 54.2 (50.0) 42.9 (42.9) 45.4 (45.4) 

Liverpool1* 71.3 (73.7) 46.3 (49.2) 39.1 (45.0) 37.6 (37.6) 39.3 (39.3) 

Manchester 68.9 (70.7) 48.0 (50.0) 44.5 (47.2) 37.2 (37.2) 39.5 (39.5) 

Leeds 75.2 (76.2) 48.4 (50.3) 49.3 (53.9) 45.1 (45.1) 48.0 (48.0) 

Nottingham 72.4 (72.5) 47.5 (47.4) 40.2 (41.7) 44.0 (44.0) 44.9 (44.9) 

Birmingham 67.6 (69.3) 45.1 (47.7) 37.6 (41.8) 38.5 (38.5) 38.0 (38.0) 

Bristol, City of* 74.7 (74.8) 48.3 (49.8) 43.1 (48.2) 44.6 (44.6) 46.9 (46.9) 

Sheffield* 75.8 (76.0) 50.2 (51.4) 55.6 (56.4) 45.1 (45.1) 47.5 (47.5) 

                         Source: Public Health England Seasonal influenza vaccine uptake amongst GP Patients  

 

Table 4 shows that the proportion of children vaccinated against flu in Nottingham City in 

2018/19 has increased by 1.7pp in school year three and has remained constant for other 

school years.  

 

Table 4: Uptake of influenza vaccine for children of school years 1, 2, 3 and 4 for 

Nottingham Local authority and ‘core cities’ and England for seasonal flu period 1 

September 2018 to 31 January 2019 (2017/18 uptake in brackets) 

Country & 
Local Authority 

Reception  
(age 4-5 years) 

Cohort Y1             
(5-6years) 

Cohort Y2                       
(6-7 years) 

Cohort Y3                       
(7-8 years) 

Cohort Y4 
(8-9 years) 

Cohort Y5 
(9-10 yrs) 

Total 
(reception to 

yr5 

England 64.3 (62.6) 63.6 (61.0) 63.6 (60.4) 60.4 (57.6) 58.3(55.8) 56.5 60.8 

Newcastle upon 
Tyne 

68.1 (59.9) 
66.6(56.9) 

65.1 (58.9) 65.4 (57.3) 62.7(55.1) 58.0 64.3 

Liverpool 55.7 (54.1) 55.6 (50.5) 54.2 (52.8) 53.7(49.3) 50.7(48.8) 51.0 53.5 

Manchester 52.7 (53.7) 53.5 (51.6) 50.3 (51.3) 50.3 (48.3) 49.6(46.5) 47.5 50.7 

Leeds 63.3 (64.4) 63.3 (61.3) 60.8 (61.3) 62.4 (59.5) 60.0(57.5) 62.4 62.0 

Nottingham 51.7 (51.7) 53.5 (53.5) 50.2 (50.0) 49.9 (48.2) 47.2 (47.4) 45.8  49.7 

Birmingham 48.4 (47.1) 48.1 (46.2) 47.0 (45.8) 45.9 (43.1) 43.3(41.8) 40.4 45.5 

Bristol, City of 57.8 (56.0) 58.9 (50.4) 55.2 (47.1) 53.8 (44.6) 50.3(38.7) 49.3 54.3 

Sheffield 60.2 (61.2) 60.9 (61.9) 60.9 (60.2) 59.0 (58.2) 57.4(56.2) 55.0 58.9 

 
Source Public Health England National childhood influenza vaccine programme coverage in England 2018-19 

                                                           
*
Newcastle, Liverpool, City of Bristol and Sheffield local authorities are co-terminus with CCGs which is the 

reporting format for 2018/19 

Page 22



13 
 

Summary of successes 

Targeting ‘at risk’ groups via hospital services was also successful. NHS England North 

Midlands commissioned Nottingham University Hospitals to offer flu vaccinations via their 

liver and kidney out-patients clinics. This has been a successful addition to the flu 

programme in Nottingham City and has been welcomed by patients and staff alike.  

 

Current Challenges in Increasing Flu Vaccination Uptake and Planned 

Activity 

 

Annual Activity  

 Flu planning meetings take place monthly 

 A local flu assurance plan has been developed  

 Flu uptake data will be reviewed on a monthly basis at GP level 

 The Screening and Immunization Team supports local flu training 

 School Age Immunisation Programme will continue to vaccinate in schools from 

reception to year 5.  

 Flu messages will be promoted nationally by Public Health England (PHE) and NHS 

England. These are filtered to local comms teams. 

 Nationally commissioned pharmacy flu service.  

 Vaccination of front line staff: Nottingham University Hospitals NHS Trust, 

Nottinghamshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust and Nottingham City Council are 

responsible.  

 

Ambitions for next flu season. 

Eligible Group Ambitionition 

Aged 65 years and over   75% 

Aged under 65 ‘at risk’, including pregnant women At least 55%  

Preschool children aged 2 and 3 years  At least 48% with most practices 
aiming to achieve higher 

School aged children (in reception class & years 1  An average of at least 65% to be 
attained by every provider across all 
years.   

 
 

Page 23



14 
 

Planned initiatives to improve uptake for next flu season 

 Astra Zeneca pilot to increase childhood uptake in GP practices – we are working 

with AstraZeneca, the sole manufacturer of the nasal flu vaccine to increase flu 

vaccine uptake for the forthcoming flu season.  

 Letters will be sent to parents of 2 & 3 year olds by Child Health. A reminder letter 

was sent out to all parents of two and three year olds in Nottingham City during the 

2018/19 flu season. This reminder had a positive effect and NHSE intend to repeat 

this for the next flu season.  

 Continue with commissioned services at NUH for pregnant women and ‘at risk’ 

patients. Pregnant women received their flu vaccine when they attended their 

antenatal appointments in hospital.  

 Training packages for health care professionals in the run up to flu season 

 Maintain close working relationships with all stakeholders 

 Continue with monthly flu meetings 

 

Conclusion 

A successful annual flu programme was observed in 2018/19 with more vaccines being 

delivered nationally than in any other European country. Nottingham City saw an increase in 

flu vaccinations in most cohorts. Through joint working, NHS England and Nottingham City 

Council, in conjunction with other stakeholders such as the CCG, worked together to ensure 

that all citizens eligible for flu vaccination received their offer of vaccination. It is hoped that 

the planned initiatives outlined above will increase uptake in 2019/20 to keep the 

circulation of influenza at a minimum, which in turn will reduce the pressure on our NHS 

services through the busy winter season. Ongoing support of the annual flu vaccination 

programme, by all stakeholders, is vital to ensure its success. 

 

Additional Information  

Influenza and the importance of vaccination is well described at: 

http://www.nhs.uk/conditions/flu/Pages/Introduction.aspx  

 

  

Page 24

http://www.nhs.uk/conditions/flu/Pages/Introduction.aspx


15 
 

Contributors  

Shade Agboola – Consultant in Public Health, Nottingham City Council, 

Shade.Agboola@nottinghamcity.gov.uk 

Sarah Mayfield-Screening and Immunisation Manager, NHS England North Midlands, 

sarahmayfield@nhs.net  

Eka Famodile - Public Health Principal Analyst, Nottingham City Council 

Eka.famodile@nottinghamcity.gov.uk 

 

References  

1. Cromer et al. The burden of influenza in England by age and clinical risk group: A 
statistical analysis to inform vaccine policy. J Infect (2013) 

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jinf.2013.11.013 
 

2. Public Health Commissioning in the NHS 2016-17 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/public-health-commissioning-in-the-
nhs-2016-to-2017 

 
3. Public Health Commissioning in the NHS 2017-2018 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/public-health-commissioning-in-the-
nhs-2017-to-2018 

 
4. Annual Flu Report 16-17 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/annual-flu-

reports 
 

5. The National Annual Flu Immunisation Programme 
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/annual-flu-programme 

 

Page 25

mailto:Shade.Agboola@nottinghamcity.gov.uk
mailto:sarahmayfield@nhs.net
http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jinf.2013.11.013
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/public-health-commissioning-in-the-nhs-2016-to-2017
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/public-health-commissioning-in-the-nhs-2016-to-2017
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/public-health-commissioning-in-the-nhs-2017-to-2018
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/public-health-commissioning-in-the-nhs-2017-to-2018
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/annual-flu-reports
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/annual-flu-reports
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/annual-flu-programme


This page is intentionally left blank



 

HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

11 JULY 2019 

ICS CLINICAL SERVICES STRATEGY  

REPORT OF HEAD OF LEGAL AND GOVERNANCE 

 
1 Purpose 
 
1.1 The Integrated Care System is consulting with Nottingham City Health 

Scrutiny on the proposed Clinical Services Strategy. 
 
2 Action required 
 
2.1 The Committee is asked to review and provide feedback on the draft 

Clinical; Services Strategy, and make recommendations for further 
scrutiny if appropriate. 

 
3 Background information 

 
3.1 The strategy provides a framework for the future model of clinical and 

community health and wellbeing services across Nottingham and 
Nottinghamshire and will drive the work to develop services in terms of 
what will be delivered where. 

 
3.2 Duncan Hanslow, Programme Director, Nottinghamshire ICS Clinical 

Services Strategy Workstream, will be attending the meeting to present 
the draft strategy to the committee, and answer questions. 

 
4 List of attached information 
 
4.1 Briefing note on the Clinical Services Strategy (appendix 1). 
 
4.2 Draft Clinical Services Strategy (appendix 2). 
 
5 Background papers, other than published works or those 

disclosing exempt or confidential information 
 
5.1 None. 
 
6 Published documents referred to in compiling this report 
 
6.1 None. 
 
7 Wards affected 
 
7.1 All. 
 

Page 27

Agenda Item 7



 

8 Contact information 
 
8.1 Zena West, Senior Governance Officer 
 Zena.West@nottinghamcity.gov.uk 
 0115 876 4305 

Page 28

mailto:Zena.West@nottinghamcity.gov.uk


   
 
   
   
 
   

 

 
 
 
 

 Clinical and Community Services Strategy 
 

Briefing Paper 
 

Purpose and background 
 
This paper summarises the work of the Clinical and Community Services Strategy. 
The strategy provides a framework for the future model of clinical and community 
health and wellbeing services across Nottingham and Nottinghamshire and will drive 
the work to develop services in terms of what will be delivered where.  
 
The Clinical and Community Services Strategy has been developed based on robust 
evidence and citizen engagement. The ongoing work to review services in line with 
the model set out in the strategy has citizen involvement embedded within its 
approach. 
 
A draft of the strategy has been developed and is provided with this paper. 
 
Case for change 
 
The Clinical and Community Services Strategy has been developed in response to a 
number of challenges facing the health and care system in Nottingham and 
Nottinghamshire. These challenges form our case for change.  
 
Improving health and wellbeing 
Depending on where you live, overall life expectancy and healthy life expectancy can 
vary significantly across Nottingham and Nottinghamshire. Addressing these health 
inequalities is a key objective of the Integrated Care System (ICS). Our clinical and 
community services need to take account of the wider determinants of health to have 
an impact in this area. 
 
Transforming the quality of care 
Our citizens have told us that they want easier access to services and greater control 
over their own health and wellbeing. This means transforming the way that services 
are delivered, for example making greater use of technology to improve access. 
 
Clinical sustainability 
The current healthcare system is clinically unsustainable. Our services cannot keep 
pace with the increases in demand. This means that we need to transform how and 
where services are delivered and move to a more proactive model of care that 
focuses on prevention and early intervention. 
 
  

Page 29



   
 
   
   
 
   

 

 
 
 
 

Workforce 
To improve health and wellbeing and transform our healthcare system we need to 
have people with the right skills and expertise in the right locations. As with other 
healthcare systems, we face a number of challenges in recruiting and retaining the 
staff we need. The ICS People and Culture Strategy sets out how we will recruit and 
retain the staff we need to provide the right services across the system. 
 
Sustainable finances 
The healthcare system faces a significant financial gap, which is projected to 
increase if we do not change how we deliver services. Much of the cost increases in 
the system are driven by increases in demand. A transformed health and care model 
needs to focus on prevention and early intervention to reduce demand to be 
financially sustainable. 
 
Our clinical model 
 
Our Clinical and Community Services Strategy sets out six principles that define our 
clinical model. These principles have been developed over a series of clinically led 
workshops. They are informed by what our citizens have told us over recent years 
across a range of engagement activities. Our clinical design principles underpin all of 
the work that this strategy will drive. 
 
Our clinical design principles 

 Principle 1  - Care and support will be provided as close to home as is both 
clinically effective and most appropriate for the patient, whilst promoting 
equality of access 

 Principle 2 - Prevention and early intervention will maximise the health of the 
population at every level and be supported through a system commitment to 
‘make every contact count’  

 Principle 3 - Mental health and well-being will be considered alongside 
physical health and wellbeing 

 Principle 4 - The model will require a high level of engagement and 
collaboration both across the various levels of the ICS and with neighbouring 
ICSs 

 Principle 5 - The models of care to be developed will be based on evidence 
and best practice, will ensure that pathways are aligned and will avoid un-
necessary duplication. 

 Principle 6 - They will be designed in partnership with local people and will 
operate across the whole healthcare system to deliver consistent outcomes 
for patients through standardised models of care except where variation is 
clinically justified. 

 

Page 30



   
 
   
   
 
   

 

 
 
 
 

Our clinical model is based around a life continuum, which recognises that people 
need different types of support at different times in their lives. Our life continuum 
includes a progression of care needs. 
 
Progression of care needs 

 Staying healthy 

 Living well 

 Care in a crisis 

 Managing illness 

 End of life 
 
Our model is summarised in the diagram at Appendix 1. 
 
Given the challenges and expectations of the people of Nottingham and 
Nottinghamshire we are being ambitious in our proposed changes. There are some 
things that we will not change. These are our fixed reference points to support 
service and capital planning.  They are set around core areas of urgent access and 
interdependency of services in those locations.  While many services not on this list 
will not change location, their future planning will be undertaken by reference to 
these fixed points through the service review process and engaging with patients 
and the public. 
 
Agreed fixed points of delivery 

 Kingsmill Hospital - Accident & Emergency for all patients and antenatal and 
postnatal obstetrician led services 

 QMC Nottingham - Accident & Emergency for all patients; Major Trauma & 
associated services; Antenatal and Postnatal Obstetrician led services; 
Neonatal Intensive Care; Nottingham Children’s Hospital 

 Newark Hospital - Designated range of Commissioner Requested Services 
which includes high volume/low complexity elective care and diagnostics plus 
Urgent Care services 

 Rampton Hospital - High secure mental health facilities 

 Wells Road Centre Nottingham - Low secure adult mental health facilities 

 LIFT and PFI facilities - All the LIFT and PFI healthcare facilities will be 
effectively used. 

 
Delivering our new model of care 
 
Our Clinical and Community Services Strategy is underpinned by other work being 
progressed across the system. 
 
  

Page 31



   
 
   
   
 
   

 

 
 
 
 

Informatics and technology strategy 
Maximising use of technology will be essential to delivering our new model of care. 
Our Informatics and Technology Strategy prioritises work to develop an integrated 
shared care record. Without better use of information across the system we cannot 
make the shift to a more proactive and prevention based model of care. 
 
Estates 
Our Estates Strategy, with the service reviews being driven by the Clinical and 
Community Services Strategy, will help guide decisions about where services will be 
located.  
 
Workforce 
The ICS has developed a People and Culture Strategy that sets out how we will 
review the workforce needs of a transformed system.  
 
Demand and capacity modelling 
Our Clinical and Community Services Strategy will seek to reduce demand on 
services and shift activity from acute hospital settings to a community setting. It may 
also result in the relocation of services as a consequence of service reviews, which 
will require closer consideration of impact and potentially public consultation. To 
support these decisions there is a need to develop a system wide approach to 
demand and capacity modelling – analysis to understand how to meet the health 
needs of the population.  
 
Next phase of strategy development 
 
Driven by the clinical model developed within this draft strategy, we are currently 
undertaking a range of service reviews. While a minimum of 20 service reviews have 
been identified, the following have been prioritised and are underway. 

 Cardio vascular disease – stroke 

 Respiratory – COPD and asthma 

 Frailty 

 Children and young people 

 Colorectal services 

 Maternity and neonates. 
 
Each of the above service reviews is underpinned by our clinical design principles 
and is driven by clinical and patient input. Each review includes has patient 
engagement embedded across its approach and involves clinicians, health 
professionals and patients in developing end-to-end care pathways.  
  

Page 32



   
 
   
   
 
   

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

LIVING 
WELL 

END 
OF 

LIFE 

LONG 
TERM 

CONDITIONS 
  

WIDER 
DETERMINANTS 

OF 
HEALTH 

CARE CO-ORDINATION 
 

END OF 
LIFE 

MANAGING 
ILLNESS 

HEALTHY 
LIVING 

 MAINTAINING 
INDEPENDENCE 

 

SOCIAL CARE 

EMERGENCY 

CARE 

MENTAL HEALTH 

URGENT 

CARE 

ACUTE & 

SPECIALIST 

CARE 

PERSONALISED 
CARE 

 

EPISODIC  
CRISIS CARE 

POPULATION HEALTH MANAGEMENT AND RISK STRATIFICATION 

PREVENTION AND BETTER VALUE HEALTHCARE 

HEALTHY 
LIFESTYLES 

Appendix 1 

P
age 33



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

$b1bittdg.docx Page 1 of 47 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ACUTE, COMMUNITY AND PRIMARY CARE 

SERVICES 

 

 

CLINICAL & COMMUNITY SERVICES STRATEGY 

 

 

DRAFT  

Page 35



 
 

$b1bittdg.docx Page 2 of 47 

 

Contents 

1. Executive Summary 

2. Introduction 

3. The Case for Change 

4. Our Shared Vision 

5. Approach to Strategy Development – The Continuum of Life  

a. Healthy Living 

b. Staying well 

c. Care in a Crisis 

d. Managing Illness 

e. End of Life 

6. Delivering our new models of care 

7. Next Phase of Strategy Development 

8. Conclusion 

Page 36



 
 

$b1bittdg.docx Page 3 of 47 

 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

In Nottinghamshire we have made great 

progress in improving people’s health and 

wellbeing. Today, we can treat diseases and 

conditions we once thought untreatable: 

cancer survival rates, for instance, have 

increased dramatically in just twenty years.  

However, with great improvements come 

new challenges. While we now live longer, 

for many these additional years are not 

lived in good health. The growing 

prevalence of long-term health conditions, 

for instance, places new strains on our 

health and care services. There is inequality 

evident in both the location of challenges 

and in access to services. In some areas, it is 

easier to access a GP than in others, or to 

find things to do to keep you active and fit.  

As the challenges our health and care 

system faces change, so must our services. 

In this endeavour, we start with a simple 

goal: to ensure everyone in 

Nottinghamshire has the best possible 

health and wellbeing they can. This means 

more people able to live full and 

independent lives in their homes, more care 

provided for them near those homes, better 

local access to health and care services, and 

a greater focus on the prevention of 

illnesses, not just their treatment.  

Our vision for the ICS is ambitious.  

Across Nottinghamshire, we seek to both 

increase the duration of people’s lives and 

to improve those additional years, allowing 

people to live longer, happier, healthier and 

more independently into their old age. 

The Need for an ICS Clinical & Community 

Strategy 

The NHS Long Term Plan is clear that to 

meet the challenges that face the NHS it will 

increasingly need to be: 

 More joined up and coordinated in its 

care 

 More proactive in the services it 

provides 

 More differentiated in its support offer 

to its individuals. 

Explicit within this is the recognition that 

some of the service changes necessary may 

not be in the interests of individual 

organisations but are required to maximise 

what can be achieved for the individual 

patient and the whole system. 

Nottingham and Nottinghamshire has the 

benefit of long established relationships and 

partnerships and these are the basis on 

which our new models of care and clinical 

strategy are being developed.   

The Strategy Development Process 

This Strategy has been developed through 

an open and inclusive process which weaves 

together the expertise of both clinicians and 

care experts with citizens in determining the 

future shape of services across the system.   

This Clinical and Community Services 

Strategy does not sit in isolation, it is an 

integral part of the components that will be 

necessary to make our new system function 

effectively and deliver the desired 

outcomes.  

Page 37



 
 

$b1bittdg.docx Page 4 of 47 

 

The strategy provides the framework for 

future service model development and to 

help understand what services will be 

delivered where.  

The Case for Change 

We have made great strides in improving 

the health and care that our population 

receive, but to continue to improve 

outcomes and stay within the funding 

allocated by the Government we recognise 

we need a major transformation 

programme which will require all sectors – 

NHS, social care, local authority, private and 

voluntary to work collaboratively with our 

citizens to radically redesign the way we 

deliver our services. 

Delivering the NHS Five Year Forward View 

Triple Aims is a major driver of our case for 

change.  The Triple Aims are; 

Improving Health & Well-being  

There are currently 1.1m people in the 

Nottingham and Nottinghamshire ICS 

which is set to increase by 3% by 2024 and 

by 10% by 2039.  

Depending on where you live in 

Nottingham and Nottingham, people have 

different overall life expectancy and 

healthy life expectancy (i.e., the number of 

years a person lives in ‘good health’). This 

variation is significant and is a key outcome 

that the ICS wishes to make improvements 

in to close the gap.  

Deprivation and socio-economic factors 

are key drivers of this inequity - 

unemployment, lower qualifications and 

less healthy lifestyle choices (healthy 

eating, smoking, overweight/obesity, low 

physical exercise) consistently result in 

poorer health and wellbeing outcomes.   

Transforming the Quality of Care 

Our citizens want to be able to receive 

services in a very different way to that 

which their parents and grandparents did.  

They have told us they want easier access 

to services closer to home, increased use of 

technology, such as options of web based 

consultations and other ways that enable 

them to take greater control of their health 

and well-being whilst still being able to see 

a doctor face-to-face when it’s really 

needed. 

Clinical Sustainability 

The current healthcare system is clinically 

unsustainable driven by demand pressures, 

insufficient levels of out of hospital services 

and staff shortages.  

From an activity perspective all modes of 

service delivery have increased year on 

year such that A&E attendances have seen 

a 4% increase in the last 3 years with a 17% 

increase in those aged 70+.  Inpatient 

episodes have also increased by 7% over 

the last 3 years.  

Circulatory disease (including stroke, 

coronary heart disease), Cancers and 

Respiratory diseases currently account for 

60% of the diseases that cause the gap in 

life expectancy between the most and 

least deprived areas in Nottinghamshire 

and these are set to rise.  Evidence has 

confirmed that these diseases can be 

prevented by improving lifestyle choices.   

The pressures on our current services are 

unsustainable and require a significant 

Page 38



 
 

$b1bittdg.docx Page 5 of 47 

 

transformation in not only how and where 

services are delivered, but also how we 

shift to a more proactive model of care that 

focuses on preventing the population 

developing the disease burden in the first 

place. 

Workforce Challenges 

Workforce is a key driver for change within 

our system.  We employ a wide range of 

talented and dedicated staff across our 

services who provide excellent care and 

support to our populations.  

 

However, it is becoming increasingly 

difficult to recruit staff with the right skills 

and expertise in the right locations as there 

are national shortages of staff entering 

training places or wanting to join these 

professions.  We know that measures such 

as trying to recruit more staff or increasing 

wages alone are not going to solve this issue 

so we need to consider different options of 

how we recruit and retain the necessary 

workforce.   

 

We face a number of challenges across our 

ICS in relation to workforce related issues.  

These include aspects such as high sickness 

and turnover rates; high reliance on agency 

staff and high vacancy rates.  Our local 

estimates indicate that based on current 

demand trajectories we will have a shortage 

of at least 1500 clinical staff over the next 

five years.   This is exacerbated by a reduced 

supply of graduates and an ageing 

workforce with a significant number of staff 

reaching retirement age. 

Our People and Culture strategy outlines a 

range of initiatives and actions that need to 

be taken for us to address this significant 

workforce challenge.  These are aligned to 

four strategic workforce objectives; 

1. Recruitment & retention supporting 

our current workforce; 

2. Supporting and retaining our 

students; 

3. Developing and supporting new 

roles; 

4. Preparing the workforce for new 

ways of working. 

Sustainable Finances 

The ICS currently spends £3.2bn annually on 

health and care services and for a number 

of years has been spending more money 

than it receives from the 

Government.  Without change, the situation 

will get worse.  

Key challenges are growth in 

activity/demand (health and social care), 

provider pay pressures and non-delivery of 

efficiency programmes. 

The system faces a gap of £159.6m in 

2019/20 representing 4.9% of the total 

system resources – this gap is expected to 

increase to in excess of £500m by 2023/24 

for NHS services alone if we do not change 

the way in which we design services and 

work with our populations to improve their 

health and well-being to prevent them 

entering ill-health in the first place. 

To a large extent these cost increases are 

driven by projected increases in demand for 

healthcare services.  If there was no 

projected increase in demand for services 

the financial gap would actually narrow to 

£50m due to the funding increases 

expected.   

Page 39



 
 

$b1bittdg.docx Page 6 of 47 

 

Current services are not set up to enable 

our staff to work as efficiently or as 

effectively as they could or to deliver as 

much health care as could be provided if 

services were better organised. It is 

therefore imperative that we drive forward 

our transformational change in order that 

we will be able to deliver services and meet 

the needs of our local populations within 

the available resources.   

We can only spend the money that the 

Government has allocated to us – to do 

otherwise is unfair on other areas and other 

parts of the public sector.  But this isn’t 

simply about reducing spend – by doing 

things differently, we can change the way 

that we deliver services that mean people  

get treatment when it is needed  and are 

supported to stay well whilst spending less 

money.   

Developing the Clinical Model  

We have held a series of  clinically led 

workshops in which over 200 clinicians and 

health and care professionals from a wide 

range of disciplines and all parts of our 

system were represented and developed 

the following set of design principles have 

been agreed with the  Programme Board to 

build on the vision and system challenges; 

 Principle 1 – Care and support will be 

provided as close to home as is both 

clinically effective and most appropriate 

for the patient, whilst promoting 

equality of access 

 Principle 2 – Prevention and early 

intervention will maximise the health of 

the population at every level and be 

supported through a system 

commitment to ‘make every contact 

count’  

 Principle 3 – Mental health and well-

being will be considered alongside 

physical health and wellbeing 

 Principle 4 – The model will require a 

high level of engagement and 

collaboration both across the various 

levels of the ICS and with neighbouring 

ICSs 

 Principle 5 – The models of care to be 

developed will be based on evidence 

and best practice, will ensure that 

pathways are aligned and will avoid un-

necessary duplication. 

 Principle 6 – They will be designed in 

partnership with local people and will 

operate across the whole healthcare 

system to deliver consistent outcomes 

for patients through standardised 

models of care except where variation is 

clinically justified. 

The Clinical Model Framework 

Our aspiration is that we want people to live 

healthy and fulfilling lives.  However, we 

also recognise that at times throughout 

their life, people will become unwell and 

that they will need different services at 

different points in their lives.   

Our clinical model is based around a life 

continuum – recognising that people will 

move both up and down the continuum in 

terms of the support and intervention that 

they need.  This model is supported by 

some key cross cutting aspects such as 

population health management and 100% 

risk stratification, prevention being 

everybody’s responsibility and a focus on 

personalisation and self-care. 

Page 40



 
 

$b1bittdg.docx Page 7 of 47 

 

A recognised progression of care needs has 

therefore been utilised within the 

development of this clinical and care 

strategy.  These include; 

 Staying Healthy 

o Primary Prevention & Education 

o Wider determinants of health 

 Living well 

o Primary & secondary prevention 

o Maternity and Children’s 

Services 

o Universal Personalised care  

o Living with a Long-term health 

or care need (including mental ill 

health)  

 Care in a Crisis  

o Care that is needed on an 

emergency or same day/ urgent 

basis 

 Managing Illness 

o Planned acute or specialist care 

(including cancer care) and 

support with the aim to return 

back to living well.  

 End of Life 

o Patient centred with joint 

decision making 

Delivering Our New Models of Care 

To support this clinical model there is an 

ongoing process of clinically and 

professionally led service reviews. These 

reviews are utilising a systemic approach to 

consider where and how we currently 

deliver services and compare these against 

benchmarking data, national and 

international models of best practice and 

ongoing developments in technology and 

infrastructure. This will enable us to 

determine; 

 Size and configuration of future estate 

 Shared and inter-connected IT systems 

 Skills, configuration and requirements 

for our future workforce models 

Our system is developing across 3 levels of 

collaboration;  

 Primary Care Networks (PCNs) 

consisting of integrated health and care 

teams linking with wider local authority 

housing and community services across 

neighbourhood localities 

 Integrated Care Providers (ICPs) 

facilitating the integrated provision and 

delivery of outcomes for the population.  

Three ICPs have been agreed - Mid 

Notts, South Notts and Nottingham City 

 Integrated Care System (ICS) for the 

whole of Nottingham and 

Nottinghamshire 

 

Conclusion 

 

This Clinical and Community Services 

Strategy starts to define what needs to be 

delivered and to some extent, where and 

when that care needs to be delivered in our 

future vision.  This will continue to be 

developed further during the next stage of 

the strategy development. However, its 

success is dependent on the 3 levels of our 

system continuing to collaborate, develop 

and mature into effective commissioning 

and integrated delivery structures. We have 

a compelling need for change, driven by the 

changing needs of our local population, 

financial and workforce drivers and by the 

need to ensure we are consistently offering 

the best evidence based services for all of 

our citizens.     

Page 41



 
 

$b1bittdg.docx Page 8 of 47 

 

2. INTRODUCTION 

The Need for an ICS Clinical Strategy 

The NHS Long Term Plan is clear that to 

meet the challenges that face the NHS it will 

increasingly need to be: 

 More joined up and coordinated in its 

care 

 More proactive in the services it 

provides 

 More differentiated in its support offer 

to its individuals. 

At the heart of this approach is working as 

an integrated health and care system to 

achieve the best outcomes for our citizens.  

Explicit within this is the recognition that 

some of the service changes necessary may 

not be in the interests of individual 

organisations but are required to maximise 

what can be achieved for the individual 

patient and the whole system. 

As such, the vision for the ICS is to deliver 

sustainable joined up, quality health and 

social care and broader community services 

that maximise the health and well-being of 

the people of Nottingham and 

Nottinghamshire.  

Each individual partner in the Integrated 

Care System (ICS) has their own Service 

Strategies in relation to the delivery of their 

core services.  This ICS Clinical and 

Community Services Strategy provides a 

long term (five year plus) overarching vision 

for our health and care delivery system and 

provides a strategic direction and 

framework for which future service 

development and reconfiguration will be 

considered against. 

Nottingham and Nottinghamshire has the 

benefit of long established relationships and 

partnerships and these are the basis on 

which our new models of care and clinical 

strategy are being developed.   

A separate, but inter-related mental health 

strategy has also been developed across the 

ICS.  There are inevitably a considerable 

number of overlapping and integrated 

outcomes and actions that need to be taken 

to deliver the holistic needs of our 

population.  Therefore, the ICS Board will 

ensure that there are single, integrated 

implementation plans where appropriate. 

The Strategy Development Process 

This Strategy has been developed through 

an open and inclusive process which weaves 

together the expertise of both clinicians and 

care experts with citizens in determining the 

future shape of services across the system.   

This Clinical Services Strategy does not sit in 

isolation, it is an integral part of the 

components that will be necessary to make 

our new system function effectively and 

deliver the desired outcomes. The strategy 

provides the framework for future service 

model development and to help understand 

what services will be delivered where.  

This will be informed by a greater 

understanding of the needs of our 

population through Population Health 

Management data.  

Page 42



 
 

$b1bittdg.docx Page 9 of 47 

 

Stakeholder Engagement 

As part of the development process there 

has been a wide range of stakeholder 

engagement events and opportunities for 

input.  These include; 

 3 design workshops including over 200 

local clinicians, care professionals and 

system leaders from across statutory, 

voluntary, and commissioning 

organisations 

 Technology and Innovation workshop 

with 35 experts from a range of fields 

 The third strategy design workshop 

included citizen representatives and a 

number of citizens groups from across 

the system have also been engaged in 

the production of the strategy 

 Citizens are now involved in each of our 

service reviews (see section 7) through 

attendance at workshops and through 

specific focus groups for the different 

areas of care.  Voluntary sector 

organisations are also involved in each 

of the reviews.  The numbers of citizens 

involved in the work will grow as the 

service reviews are extended. 

The System level Outcomes Framework 

This Clinical and Community Services 

Strategy has been developed alongside 

other key workstreams across the ICS.  The 

need to align the strategy with the 

emerging system-level Outcomes 

Framework is essential.  The ICS Board 

recently confirmed that the ICS Outcomes 

Framework is being based on the triple aims 

(improved health and wellbeing, 

transformed quality of care, and sustainable 

finances) whilst increasing healthy life 

expectancy remains the overarching system 

outcome.   

The purpose of the Framework is to provide 

a clear view of our success as an ICS in 

improving the health, wellbeing and 

independence of our citizens and 

transforming the way the health and care 

system operates.  The Framework sets out 

short, medium and long term outcomes the 

whole ICS will work together to achieve 

based on eight ambitions.  These remain in 

draft but are currently outlined as follows; 

Outcome Ambitions 

Our people live longer, healthier lives 

Our children have a good start in life 

Our people and families are resilient and 
have good health and wellbeing 

Our people enjoy healthy and independent 
ageing for longer, at home or in their 
community 

Our people have equitable access to the right 
care at the right time in the right place 

Our services meet the needs of our people in 
a positive way 

Our system is in financial balance and 
achieves maximum benefit against 
investment 

Our system has a sustainable infrastructure 

 

This Clinical and Community Services 

Strategy focuses on what future services will 

look like to deliver this outcomes 

framework over the long term.  

Page 43



 
 

$b1bittdg.docx Page 10 of 47 

 

3. THE CASE FOR CHANGE 

The populations of Nottingham and 

Nottinghamshire’s require health and care 

services that are of the highest quality and 

delivered as locally as possible.  Our citizens 

have told us that they want to be supported 

to take more responsibility for their own 

health and that if they become ill they want 

to be cared for at home where-ever 

possible with a proactive support system 

wrapping services around them.   

We have made great strides in improving 

the health and care that our population 

receive, but to continue to improve 

outcomes and stay within the funding 

allocated by the Government we recognise 

we need a major transformation 

programme which will require all sectors – 

NHS, social care, local authority, private and 

voluntary to work collaboratively with our 

citizens to radically redesign the way we 

deliver our services.  

There are a number of reasons why our 

services need to be radically re-focused to 

ensure we can maximise the health and 

well-being of our population and deliver the 

triple aims identified in the Five Year 

Forward View and the NHS Long Term Plan.  

These include improving health and well-

being, transforming the quality of care and 

delivering sustainable finances. 

Improving Health & Well-being  

There are currently 1.1m people in the 

Nottingham and Nottinghamshire ICS 

which is set to increase by 3% by 2024 and 

by 10% by 2039.  

 

The age profile of our populations in Mid 

Notts and South Notts are relatively similar 

to that of the England average, whilst our 

Nottingham City population has a smaller 

proportion of those aged 50+ and a higher 

proportion of younger people even when 

we discount for its large student 

population.  People are also living far 

longer with 13% of the ICS population 

currently aged 70+ which is set to rise to 

18% by 2039. 

Deprivation is a strong driver of illness and 

poor levels of health.  Our ICS has large 

variations in the levels of deprivation, for 

example Nottingham City and Mansfield 

and Ashfield are some of the most 

deprived districts in England compared to 

Rushcliffe which at 318th is one of the least 

deprived in the country.   

Deprivation and socio-economic factors 

significantly affect a person’s life 

expectancy. Nottingham City and 

Mansfield & Ashfield are affected by higher 

unemployment, lower qualifications and 

less healthy lifestyle choices (healthy 

eating, smoking, overweight/obesity, low 

physical exercise) resulting in poorer 

health and wellbeing outcomes.  Across 

the ICS we have a differential pattern in 

overall life expectancy with male life 

expectancy ranging between 77yrs – 

80.7yrs and females ranging between 

81.1yrs - 83.4yrs.   

Page 44



 
 

$b1bittdg.docx Page 11 of 47 

 

The healthy life expectancy i.e. the number 

of years a person lives in ‘good health’ also 

shows a pattern of inequity – a male in 

Nottingham City lives 57 years in good 

health compared to a male in the rest of 

Nottinghamshire who lives 62.5 years.  The 

patter is similar for females with 53.3 years 

compared to 61.6 years.  

Around 20% of our lives are spent in poor 

health, and evidence suggests that the past 

gains in life expectancy may be becoming 

harder to achieve. We are now living with 

more complex illnesses for longer. This 

trend is set to continue as the proportion of 

those aged 65 and over with four or more 

diseases is set to double by 2035, with 

around a third of these people having a 

mental health problem.  

 

Therefore improving healthy life expectancy 

is essential to creating a sustainable system 

and securing this improvement requires 

change in every part of the system. 

 

Childhood obesity is a further key indicator 

of the impact our lifestyle choices have on 

the health of our population.  It is 

associated with a higher chance of 

premature death and disability in 

adulthood. Overweight and obese children 

are more likely to stay obese into 

adulthood and to develop long term health 

(LTC) conditions such as diabetes and 

cardiovascular diseases at a younger age.  

At the age of 4-5yrs Nottingham City 

children are already significantly less likely 

to be a healthy weight than those in 

Nottinghamshire and the rest of England.  

By age 10-11yrs the gap has grown further 

with only 57.8% of Nottingham City 

children being a healthy weight compared 

to 64.3% in England.   

Nottingham City 
Population = 
388,367 

Mid Notts 
Population = 
349,194 

South Notts 
Population = 
358,864 

Page 45



 
 

$b1bittdg.docx Page 12 of 47 

 

Transforming the Quality of Care 

Changing Public Expectations 

We have a growing population with 

increasingly complex care needs that are 

placing different demands on the health 

and care services.   However, they also 

want to be able to receive services in a very 

different way to that which their parents 

and grandparents did.  Our citizens tell us 

they want easier access to services closer to 

home, increased use of technology, such as 

options of web based consultations and 

other ways that enable them to take 

greater control of their health and well-

being whilst still being able to see a doctor 

face-to-face when it’s really needed. 

Many of our health facilities were 

established over 50 years ago to meet a 

very different health need.  Our health and 

care services need to adapt and change to 

provide high quality care for people at 

home or in the community (where clinically 

appropriate) and to ensure everyone can 

benefit from modern day medicine and 

technological advances.  

Clinical Sustainability 

The current healthcare system is clinically 

unsustainable driven by demand pressures, 

insufficient levels of out of hospital services 

and staff shortages.  

From an activity perspective we have seen:  

 Outpatient appointments have 

increased by 15% in the last 3 years 

(17/18 vs 14/15) with a 20% increase in 

age 70+ Outpatient appointments. 

 A&E attendances have seen a 4% 

increase in the last 3 years (17/18 vs 

14/15) with a 17% increase in age 70+ 

A&E attendances in last 3 years.  

 Inpatient episodes have increased by 

7% over the last 3 years but we have 

seen a corresponding decrease in bed 

days by 9% and an increase in daycase 

activity of 10%.  There has been a 17% 

increase in inpatient episodes in those 

aged 75+.  

Currently 13% of the ICS population is aged 

70+ and this population accounts for;  

 20% A&E attendances,  

 27% outpatient appointments,  

 31% of emergency inpatients,  

 33% of elective and 33% of 

daycases  

Circulatory disease (including stroke, 

coronary heart disease), Cancers and 

Respiratory diseases currently account for 

60% of the diseases that cause the gap in 

life expectancy between the most and 

least deprived areas in Nottinghamshire 

and these are set to rise.  For example over 

the next 20 years Stroke will increase to 

84%, respiratory diseases to 101% and 

Cancer to 179%.  

Evidence has confirmed that these 

diseases can be prevented by improving 

lifestyle choices.  For example;  

 9 out of 10 strokes are caused by 

risk factors that can be modified 

 40 - 45% of Cancers are caused by 

risk factors that can be modified 

Current data suggests that we still have 

significant areas of unhealthy lifestyle 

choices as demonstrated below;   

Page 46



 
 

$b1bittdg.docx Page 13 of 47 

 

Smoking  Mansfield & Ashfield > 
1 in 5 people 

 Rushcliffe 1 in 12 
people 

Exercised for 
30 mins for 
12 out of 28 
days 

 Nottingham City/ 
Mansfield and Ashfield 
- 1 in 3 people 

 Rushcliffe - 1 in 2 
people 

 

With the population growing, ageing and 

spending a higher proportion of time in 

poor health, there will be an ever 

increasing need for carers.  Informal carers 

need more support, they are 2.5 times 

more likely to experience psychological 

distress than non-carers; working carers are 

two to three times more likely to suffer 

poor health than those without caregiving 

responsibilities.  Dementia carers 

particularly struggle and dementia is due to 

increase 86% in the next 10 years. 

The pressures on our current services are 

unsustainable and require a significant 

transformation in not only how and where 

services are delivered, but also how we 

shift to a more proactive model of care that 

focuses on preventing the population 

developing the disease burden in the first 

place. 

Clinical sustainability also requires us to 

review and consider how and where we 

deliver services from. Treatments are 

becoming increasingly specialised offering 

the potential to improve quality of care 

further by enabling access to the latest 

treatments and techniques.  However, this 

does require more specialised services to be 

based around larger centres.  This will 

enable specialist staff to build their skills 

and capabilities, and to ensure all patients 

have access to specialist skills and 

equipment. 

Workforce Challenges 

Workforce is a key driver for change within 

our system.  It is becoming increasingly 

difficult to recruit staff with the right skills 

and expertise in the right locations as there 

are national shortages of staff entering 

training places or wanting to join these 

professions.  We know that measures such 

as trying to recruit more staff or increasing 

wages alone are not going to solve this issue 

so we need to consider different options of 

how we recruit and retain the necessary 

workforce.   

 

The ICS has developed a 10 year People and 

Culture strategy which will fully articulate 

the challenge and put forward some of the 

mitigations in terms of recruiting and 

retaining high quality staff to deliver the 

care needs of our population.  We employ a 

wide range of talented and dedicated staff 

across our system who provide excellent 

care and services to our populations.  The 

profile of staff is as follows; 

 35,436 Full time equivalent members of 

staff are employed across the 

Nottinghamshire system 

 18,318 of our staff are based in our 

hospitals 

 11,949 of our staff are based within a 

community setting 

 2,171 of our staff are based out of 

hospital but work system wide 

 2,965 of our staff are based out of the 

ICS 

Page 47



 
 

$b1bittdg.docx Page 14 of 47 

 

We face a number of challenges across our 

ICS in relation to workforce related issues.  

These include aspects such as; 

 We have a system wide reliance on 

agency staff which is both a financial 

issue and a clinical risk.  The three NHS 

providers in Nottinghamshire spent 

approximately £40m on agency staff in 

2018/19. 

 There is a requirement in the GP Forward 

View and the Mental Health Forward 

View to increase the numbers of staff in 

these areas, e.g. 77 more GPs by 2020,   

30 Children & Young People MH workers, 

and 23 Mental Health crisis workers 

 Sickness absence is higher than the 

national NHS average  

 Vacancy rates higher than the national 

NHS average (12.1% vs 9.1%) and we 

have a high turnover rate at 11.4% 

 Nursing vacancy rates are also extremely 

high – 18.9%, which equates to a vacancy 

figure of 1,412 FTE. 

 

Our local estimates indicate that based on 

current demand trajectories we will have a 

shortage of at least 1500 clinical staff over 

the next five years.   This is exacerbated by a 

reduced supply of graduates and an ageing 

workforce with a significant number of staff 

reaching retirement age. 

 

Some of the key staffing impacts on the 

delivery of our strategy include a shortage 

of General Practitioners (77 FTE short by 

2020) along with a general shortage of 

primary care based staff.  Certain hospital 

based specialities including Health Care of 

the Elderly, Stroke, Paediatrics, Emergency 

Medicine and Radiology are all struggling to 

meet the growing demand. 

 
Additionally, there are 2000 (9%) social 

care/ residential care vacancies with 

turnover in Nottingham in line with the 

England average for this sector of 30.1%. 

 

Our People and Culture strategy outlines a 

range of initiatives and actions that need to 

be taken forward for us to address this 

significant workforce challenge.  These are 

aligned to four strategic workforce 

objectives; 

1. Recruitment & retention supporting 

our current workforce; 

2. Supporting and retaining our 

students; 

3. Developing and supporting new 

roles; 

4. Preparing the workforce for new 

ways of working. 

Staff engagement is a key enabler to 

delivery of both our People and Culture 

strategy and to this Clinical and Community 

Services Strategy.  It is essential that we 

listen and respond to our workforce to 

shape the delivery of our priorities.  

Evidence tells us that an engaged and 

committed workforce leads to improved 

patient outcomes and increased staff 

satisfaction which will assist with 

recruitment and retention challenges.    

Developing our Clinical and Community 

Services Strategy will also identify where we 

will deliver services differently and how we 

can use enablers such as technological 

advances to mitigate some of the workforce 

challenges.  We need to ensure that staff 

are empowered to  work at the top of their 

licence and that we  maximise their valuable 

contribution by developing new and 

Page 48



 
 

$b1bittdg.docx Page 15 of 47 

 

innovative roles where appropriate to 

ensure we continue to focus on high quality 

patient outcomes.     

Additionally, we recognise that the current 

roles and workforce structures are not fit 

for purpose.  We need to develop a flexible 

workforce that is not constrained by 

organisational or professional boundaries.  

In order to achieve this we will need to link 

with education providers and review the 

approach to training our future workforce 

to focus on the skills we need rather than 

the roles themselves. 

Sustainable Finances 

The ICS currently spends £3.2bn annually on 

health and care services and for a number 

of years has been spending more money 

than it receives.  Without change, the 

situation will get worse. In 2018/19 the 

financial position of the system 

deteriorated, with a forecast in-year deficit 

of £87 million, this is £19 million worse than 

the position agreed with national NHS 

leaders.  Key challenges are growth in 

activity/demand (health and social care), 

provider pay pressures and non-delivery of 

efficiency programmes. 

The system faces a gap of £159.6m in 

2019/20 representing 4.9% of the total 

system resources – this gap is expected to 

increase to in excess of £500m by 2023/24 

for NHS services alone if we do not change 

the way in which we design services and 

work with our populations to improve their 

health and well-being to prevent them 

entering ill-health in the first place. 

The improved NHS Long Term Plan funding 

settlement will result in system resources 

increasing by circa 20% over the next five 

years but this will not keep pace with cost 

increases which are projected at 35% for 

the same period if we don’t do anything 

differently.  To a large extent these cost 

increases are driven by projected increases 

in demand for healthcare services.  If there 

was no projected increase in demand for 

services the financial gap would actually 

narrow to £50m due to the funding 

increases expected.   

The NHS is implementing a new financial 

framework for providers and commissioners 

and it is expected that in future years we 

will move away from control totals and 

sustainability funding.  However, for 

2019/20 control totals remain in place, for 

individual organisations and ICSs.  

 

Current services are not set up to enable 

our staff to work as efficiently or as 

effectively as they could or to deliver as 

much health care as could be provided if 

services were better organised. It is 

therefore imperative that we drive forward 

our transformational change in order that 

we will be able to deliver services and meet 

the needs of our local populations within 

the available resources. 

These features of the financial position of 

the ICS show that while it is unrealistic to 

expect no increase in demand for services, 

improving the health of the population with 

better prevention, earlier intervention and 

more developed self-care,  is at least as 

important to a sustainable healthcare 

system as the improving the efficiency of 

service provision. 

 

Page 49



 
 

$b1bittdg.docx Page 16 of 47 

 

National Drivers 

There are a range of national policy drivers 

that we remain committed to as a wider 

system that this strategy has taken account 

of.  In particular:  

 The Five Year Forward View and the 

refreshed guidance in February 2018 

reaffirmed national priorities and set 

out five challenges for the NHS and 

care system to respond to.   

 General Practice Forward View in April 

2016 which was supplemented by 

Investment and Evolution; a five year 

framework for GP Contract reform to 

implement The NHS Long Term Plan 

 Prevention is Better than Cure – Our 

vision to help you live well for longer - 

Department of Health & Social Care  

(Nov 2018) 

 Universal personalised care: 

Implementing the comprehensive 

model – NHSE (Jan 2019) 

 Our understanding of the implications 

of the imminent ‘Green Paper’ on 

Social care 

 

Local Drivers - Fixed Points in the System 
 
Given the challenges and expectations of 

the people of Nottingham and 

Nottinghamshire we are being ambitious in 

our proposed changes.  But there are some 

things that we are not proposing to change 

in order to create a small number of fixed 

reference points to support service and 

capital planning.  These are set around core 

areas of urgent access and interdependency 

of services in those locations.  These have 

been confirmed as; 

 

 

Agreed Fixed Points of Delivery 

Kingsmill 
Hospital 
 

Accident & Emergency 
for all patients; and 
Antenatal and postnatal 
obstetrician led services; 

QMC 
Nottingham 

Accident & Emergency 
for all patients; 
Major Trauma & 
associated services;  
Antenatal and postnatal 
obstetrician led services; 
Neonatal Intensive Care;  
Nottingham Children’s 
Hospital; 

Newark Hospital Designated range of 
Commissioner Requested 
Services which includes 
high volume/low 
complexity elective care 
and diagnostics plus 
Urgent Care services 

Rampton 
Hospital 

High secure mental 
health facilities 

Wells Road 
Centre 
Nottingham 

Low secure adult mental 
health facilities 

LIFT and PFI 
Facilities 
 

All the LIFT and PFI 
healthcare facilities will 
be effectively used  

 
These fixed points are important as they set 

the foundations to construct where future 

service provision will be delivered from 

across the system.  They will be used to 

build other services around and enable the 

focus to be on how these are maintained in 

the future rather than whether they are 

required.  While many services not on this 

list will not change location, their future 

planning will be undertaken by reference to 

these fixed points through the service 

review process and engaging with patients 

and the public (Section 7). 

Page 50



 
 

$b1bittdg.docx Page 17 of 47 

 

Estates & Infrastructure 

A further key constraint and opportunity is 

the quality of the estate and infrastructure 

of current service provision.  There is £168m 

of backlog maintenance required across the 

key NHS provider organisations much of it 

critical for ongoing service delivery.   

The healthcare estate infrastructure in the 

ICS costs circa £172m p/a of which £78m 

p/a is Private Finance (PFI) or LIFT 

payments.   

It is also the case that there is significant 

opportunity to better use estate capacity in 

the system either through effective reuse or 

disposal.  Some areas for improvement 

include; 

 33% of the acute hospital estate is used 

for non-clinical purposes and 2.55% of 

the estate is unoccupied 

 Across the health community there are 

316 healthcare buildings including 115 

owned by GPs 

 The ICS has been set a land disposal 

target for Nottinghamshire of £12.2m to 

support the reinvestment in modern 

facilities 

It is therefore essential that the future 

clinical services models enable  

 Improved use of our quality estate, 

especially PFI and LIFT building where 

we are tied into a long term contractual 

commitment  

 Reduction in the acute service estate 

footprint, currently envisaged to be 

predominantly at the City Hospital 

campus, to enable investment in better 

quality estate both on that site and 

elsewhere 

 Use the estate more effectively for the 

whole health and care system looking 

beyond traditional organisational 

boundaries. 

Conclusion 

We have a compelling need for change, 

driven by the changing needs of our local 

population and by the need to ensure we 

are consistently offering the best evidence 

based services for all of our citizens.    

We are faced with a current health and care 

system that has a number of challenges 

ranging from an inability to recruit and 

retain the key skills and personnel that we 

require to deliver care and rising costs that 

mean that our current services are costing 

more than the income we receive.   

These issues are very real and we need to 

address them in a way that will improve 

outcomes for individuals, our communities 

as well as all of our staff working across the 

system. 

Figure 1 overleaf provides a summary of 

how the development of the Clinical and 

Community Services strategy will support 

the ICS to deliver the NHS Long Term Plan 

‘Triple Aims’;  

Page 51



 
 

$b1bittdg.docx Page 18 of 47 

 

DRIVING CHANGE ACROSS THE ICS ‘TRIPLE AIMS’  

GAP

• The clinical and community 
services strategy will support 
people to live longer, healthier 
lives 

• Our children will have a good 
start in life 

• Reduce avoidable admissions 
and managing conditions 
amenable to healthcare 

• Reducing outcomes gap so that 
our populations enjoy 
healthier and independent 
ageing for longer 

•    Improving workplace health 
and reducing long term 
unemployment 

• Shifting from a reactive 
hospital based treatment 
model to pro-active 
approaches of prevention 
and early intervention  

• Variation in primary care 
access and outcomes will be 
reduced 

• Inconsistent clinical pathways 
and outcomes removed 

• Improve self-care and 
management 

• Developing new models of 
care in priority pathways 

• Our populations will have 
equitable access to the right 
care at the right time in the 
right place 

• Nottinghamshire currently 
spends £3.2bn on health and 
social care services 

• Health and Care system faces a 
£156.9m Do Nothing  gap in 
2019/20 representing 4.9% of 
system resources 

• Projected gap of £500m for 
NHS alone by 2023/24 

• System resources expected to 
increase by 20% over next five 
years but this will be 
outstripped by cost increases 
of 35% if we don’t do anything 
different 

• New Clinical Service Models 
will be a key contributor to 
bridging this gap alongside 
increasing efficiency and 
reducing waste 

 
NB – Figures currently exclude Nottingham 
City Council 

P
age 52



 
 

$b1bittdg.docx Page 19 of 47 

 

4. OUR SHARED VISION 

Our Vision 

Across Nottinghamshire, we seek to both 

increase the duration of people’s lives and 

to improve those additional years, allowing 

people to live longer, happier, healthier and 

more independently into their old age. 

The aim of our strategy is to support the 

system to achieve this by shifting the focus 

of our health and care delivery from 

reactive, hospital based treatment models 

to a pro-active approach of prevention and 

early intervention, delivered in people’s 

homes or in community locations where 

this is appropriate.  

By working in partnership across our 

different providers of care and all our 

sectors of care – acute, community, 

general practice, local authorities and 

wider community services including 

voluntary and private providers, we aim to 

ensure our citizen’s experience is less 

fragmented and is integrated via a single 

patient held, patient record. 

This requires a high level of trust both at 

an organisational level and individual 

clinician level to enable the necessary 

culture change that will support positive 

risk taking to become the norm.  

The NHS Long Term Plan articulated the gap 

around delivery of the ‘triple aims’ and 

identified five major practical changes 

necessary to achieve closure of these gaps.  

The ICS has undertaken a process to align 

our system priorities to the Long Term 

Plan and confirmed five priorities that 

must be delivered. This strategy will make 

a step change in supporting the delivery of 

these priorities which include;  

 Redesign the urgent and emergency care 

system, including integrated primary 

care models, to ensure timely care in the 

most appropriate setting 

 Improve the care of people with single 

and multiple long term conditions 

through greater proactive management 

and self-management to reduce crises 

 Re-shape and transform services and 

other interventions so they better 

respond to the mental health and care 

needs of our population 

 Reduce waste and improve efficiency 

and value across the system (including 

estates) 

 More action on and improvements in the 

upstream prevention of avoidable illness 

and its exacerbations.  

  

Page 53



 
 

$b1bittdg.docx Page 20 of 47 

 

5. APPROACH TO STRATEGY 

DEVELOPMENT 

Our clinical strategy fully recognises that we 

cannot continue with the current ‘illness’ 

models of healthcare that the NHS has 

traditionally delivered.   

Tangible benefits can be achieved if we fully 

embrace the opportunities provided by 

utilising population health management 

data to risk stratify the population.  This will 

allow us to identify who is most at risk of 

developing preventable conditions or whose 

health  may deteriorate and then identifying 

the ‘what and where’ health and care 

services will be delivered to pro-actively 

target those most at risk.   

The Clinical Design Principles 

Through engagement at the workshop 

events the following set of design principles 

have been agreed with the CSS Programme 

Board to build on the vision and system 

challenges; 

 Principle 1 – Care and support will be 

provided as close to home as is both 

clinically effective and most appropriate 

for the patient, whilst promoting 

equality of access 

 Principle 2 – Prevention and early 

intervention will maximise the health of 

the population at every level and be 

supported through a system 

commitment to ‘make every contact 

count’  

 Principle 3 – Mental health and well-

being will be considered alongside 

physical health and wellbeing 

 Principle 4 – The model will require a 

high level of engagement and 

collaboration both across the various 

levels of the ICS and with neighbouring 

ICSs 

 Principle 5 – The models of care to be 

developed will be based on evidence 

and best practice, will ensure that 

pathways are aligned and will avoid un-

necessary duplication. 

 Principle 6 – They will be designed in 

partnership with local people and will 

operate across the whole healthcare 

system to deliver consistent outcomes 

for patients through standardised 

models of care except where variation is 

clinically justified. 

Public Engagement 

Nottingham and Nottinghamshire have a 

long history of service transformation and 

throughout each of these programmes of 

work there have been numerous 

consultation and engagement events with 

patients, carers and the public.  These were 

then supplemented by public engagement 

at the outset and during the development 

of the Strategic Transformation Partnership 

work. 

The output from this wide range of 

engagement events has created an 

overwhelming case for change in terms of 

the way that health and care services have 

been traditionally delivered across 

Nottingham and Nottinghamshire and have 

been the foundation of the case for change 

for the Clinical and Community Services 

Strategy.   

 

Page 54



 
 

$b1bittdg.docx Page 21 of 47 

 

The Clinical Services Strategy Programme 

Board acknowledged that this work remains 

valid and demonstrates a strong consensus 

as to what the public would like to see from 

our clinical and community services.  The 

following key factors from the feedback 

were considered during the strategy 

development; 

 Joined up health and care to enable a 

seamless approach for the individual 

 Prevention and self-care are essential 

components  

 Less reliance and demand on acute 

hospitals – and ultimately smaller 

facilities 

 Strengthened and integrated primary 

and community care services with new 

models of care able to meet the needs 

of individuals in their own homes where 

ever possible 

 Evidence based planning and 

streamlining to reduce inefficiency and 

unwarranted clinical variation 

 

The Clinical Model Framework 

Our aspiration is that we want people to live 

healthy and fulfilling lives.  However, we 

also recognise that at times throughout 

their life, people will become unwell and 

that they will need different services at 

different points in their lives.   

It is also acknowledged that people will 

move both up and down the continuum in 

terms of the support and intervention that 

they need.  For example, an individual’s life 

may suddenly be impacted by a significant 

trauma that has life changing consequences 

or a family may have a child born with 

extremely complex health and care needs 

that will stay with them throughout their 

lives.  Others may have complex needs that 

following intervention allow them to live 

independently with support from their GP 

or community team.   

A recognised progression of care needs has 

therefore been utilised within the 

development of this clinical strategy.  These 

include; 

 Staying Healthy 

o Primary Prevention & Education 

o Wider determinants of health 

 Living well 

o Primary & secondary prevention 

o Maternity and Children’s 

Services 

o Universal Personalised care  

o Living with a Long-term health 

or care need including mental ill 

health  

 Care in a Crisis  

o Care that is needed on an 

emergency or same day/ urgent 

basis 

 Managing Illness 

o Planned acute or specialist care 

(including cancer care) and 

support with the aim to return 

back to living well.  

 End of Life 

o Patient centred with joint 

decision making 

Using this consistent approach across our 

service reviews will enable the aggregate 

changes and impact to be determined for; 

 Size and configuration of future estate 

Page 55



 
 

$b1bittdg.docx Page 22 of 47 

 

 Shared and inter-connected IT systems 

 Skills, configuration and requirements 

for our future workforce models 

 Ongoing organisational development 

and culture changes 

Overleaf provides a schematic 

representation of our approach to 

developing the Clinical and Community 

Services Strategy whilst the next section 

explores the dimensions of care for the high 

level clinical model in more depth.   

The schematic demonstrates that some 

aspects of our care model are needed 

throughout a person’s life, for example we 

would see that there are opportunities for 

prevention and promotion of maximising 

the value from our health services pertain 

to all parts of our continuum whilst in other 

aspects, people will move through various 

stages for example, they may be in need of 

support in an emergency but then return 

back to healthy living.  

 

Page 56



 
 

$b1bittdg.docx Page 23 of 47 

 

  
 

 

LIVING 
WELL 

END 
OF 

LIFE 

LONG 
TERM 

CONDITIONS 
  

WIDER 
DETERMINANTS 

OF 
HEALTH 

CARE CO-ORDINATION 
 

END OF 
LIFE 

MANAGING 
ILLNESS 

HEALTHY 
LIVING 

 MAINTAINING 
INDEPENDENCE 

 

SOCIAL CARE 

EMERGENCY 

CARE 

MENTAL HEALTH 

URGENT 

CARE 

ACUTE & 

SPECIALIST 

CARE 

PERSONALISED 
CARE 

 

EPISODIC  
CRISIS CARE 

POPULATION HEALTH MANAGEMENT AND RISK STRATIFICATION 

PREVENTION AND BETTER VALUE HEALTHCARE 

HEALTHY 
LIFESTYLES 

P
age 57



 
 

$b1bittdg.docx Page 24 of 47 

 

HEALTHY LIVING 

WHY PREVENTION & EDUCATION? 

Prevention is about helping people stay 

healthy, happy and independent for as long 

as possible. This means reducing the 

chances of problems arising in the first 

place and, when they do, supporting people 

to manage them as effectively as possible.  

Prevention activities are key to keeping 

people independent and well at home and 

to avoid the escalation of needs that can 

result in crisis interventions. Prevention is 

important at all ages throughout life. 

Around 20% of our lives are spent in poor 

health, and evidence suggests that the past 

gains in life expectancy may be becoming 

harder to achieve.  We are now living with 

more complex illnesses for longer. This 

trend is set to continue as the proportion of 

those aged 65 and over with four or more 

diseases is set to double by 2035, with 

around a third of these people having a 

mental health problem.  

The case for change has clearly identified 

that we can make a positive difference in 

our population’s health if we focus on 

prevention as well as educating and 

supporting our populations to choose 

healthier lifestyle choices.  In Nottingham 

and Nottinghamshire, the leading risks 

attributable to years of life lost due to 

premature mortality are tobacco, alcohol, 

dietary risks and high blood pressure.  

It is estimated that currently only 3-5% of 

health spending is on public health 

activities, yet population health initiatives 

when evaluated usually have a far greater 

return on investment for every £1 spent.   

For example, we know that 9 out of 10 

strokes are caused by behaviours that could 

be modified.  A key health intervention that 

would support this change is the NHS Health 

Check Programme.  However, only 44% of 

those people who were invited to 

participate across our ICS during 2013-2018 

for a coronary vascular disease check 

actually attended.   

The case for change articulated the growing 

problem relating to LTCs resulting from 

obesity, especially obesity arising in 

childhood. 

Obese children and adolescents suffer from 

both short-term and long-term health 

consequences.  The most significant health 

consequences often do not become 

apparent until adulthood and these include 

cardiovascular diseases (mainly heart 

disease and stroke); diabetes; 

musculoskeletal disorders, especially 

osteoarthritis; and certain types of cancer 

(endometrial, breast and colon). 

It is estimated around 50% of GP 

appointments, 64% of outpatient 

appointments, and 70% of hospital bed days 

are due to preventable ill health.  Overall 

40% of the burden on health services in 

England may be avoidable through 

preventable action.  

The evidence around smoking cessation is 

overwhelming. The World Health 

Organisation has clearly outlined the health 

benefits of quitting smoking.  Within 2-12 

weeks of quitting, circulation improves and 

Page 58



 
 

$b1bittdg.docx Page 25 of 47 

 

lung function increases and within a year 

coronary heart disease is about half that of 

a smoker and within 5 years stroke risk has 

reduced to half that of a smoker. 

Across Nottingham and Nottinghamshire, 

the move towards a smoke free generation 

would annually save lives (c. 1,823 early 

deaths are due to smoking), reduce hospital 

admissions for smoking related and directly 

attributable conditions (c.10,992), reduce 

health inequalities and provide societal cost 

savings of £153m.  

Another key area is the impact of alcohol on 

a wide range of conditions such as cancer, 

cardiovascular and alcohol related injuries.  

Alcohol related hospital admissions account 

for 1.1million admissions a year nationally. 

The benefits that can be achieved from a 

focused reduction on preventable 

conditions such as tobacco and alcohol are 

significant.    As such, a key part of our 

Clinical and Community Services Strategy 

will be that prevention and maximising 

future health is something that all partners 

are responsible for and will be considered 

throughout every stage of our clinical 

model.   

As a system, we have a responsibility to 

make the environment and culture within 

which people live, work and play more 

supportive of enabling good health.  We 

need to incentivise people to want to lead 

an active lifestyle and to have the 

knowledge, skills and confidence to take full 

control of their lives and making healthy 

choices as easy as possible.  

We need open conversations at a 

population and individual level on how the 

health and social care system works jointly 

with the public to collectively support 

health and well-being. One such mechanism 

will be health promotion activities and a 

wide range of media need to be utilised to 

maximise public awareness and uptake. 

Technology will play an important and 

evolving role in preventative activity as well 

as a focus on factors such as housing and air 

pollution.   

There is a growing body of evidence that 

health and care interventions are only able 

to address 10% of overall health benefit in 

terms of access to care and it is only by 

addressing the wider determinants of 

health that a real step change can be made 

in people’s lives.   

Page 59



 
 

$b1bittdg.docx Page 26 of 47 

 

We need to;- 

 Ensure prevention activity is considered 

for all ages and takes a conception to 

grave approach that enables us to ‘make 

every contact count’ (MECC) 

 Systematically tackle Nottingham and 

Nottinghamshire leading risks factors 

which impact on premature mortality - 

namely tobacco, dietary risks including 

obesity, alcohol, lack of exercise and 

high blood pressure 

 Prevent or delay long term health and 

social care needs by identifying early 

risk factors that could impact on 

people’s independence, health and well-

being 

 See a systematic culture change – 

moving to a system that takes a longer-

term view and thinks about prevention 

rather than simply treatment  

 Establish virtual clinics to access 

information, advice and guidance to 

prevent ill-health 

 Establish links with education providers 

to pro-actively support children and 

their families to have the best start in 

life 

 Ensure housing plans for the future 

support all communities that can meet 

the needs of people with all age 

disabilities and an ageing population 

 Increase social prescribing for leisure 

activities to increase levels of physical 

activity at all ages 

 

Key Outcomes 

 A narrowing in the life expectancy gap 

and the healthy life years gap across 

our populations 

 The overall demand for services is 

reduced as a result of work on 

prevention and the wider determinants 

of health 

 In the longer term see a significant 

reduction in premature death from the 

main attributable risk factors  

Page 60



 
 

$b1bittdg.docx Page 27 of 47 

 

 Prevention activities are pro-actively 

and systematically funded and a longer-

term view is taken to return on 

investment. 

 Risk factors are identified and 

addressed at an earlier stage  

 The interventions applied will be 

universal in their reach, but targeted 

according to need. 

 An increasing number of people are 

supported in their own homes and local 

communities for longer 

 

  

Page 61



 
 

$b1bittdg.docx Page 28 of 47 

 

LIVING WELL  

We want to increase the amount of years 

that people live in good health.  To do this 

we need to support people to have a good 

start in life and then enabling them to live 

independent, fulfilling lives where they feel 

able to reach their full potential.   This is a 

key outcome that the ICS wants to achieve. 

We know that the number of people living 

with multi-morbidity prevalence will rise 

dramatically across our population over the 

coming years.  The numbers of people with 

4+ diseases will more than double in the 

next 20 years and this is significantly 

increasing the complexity of those people 

who do need health and care support.   

Our current system is overly reliant on beds 

and care isn’t provided in the right place.  

Our data suggests that in point prevalence 

studies, during the study period in 2017 

50% of the patients in a hospital bed at 

Nottingham University Hospital could have 

been cared for more appropriately in a 

different setting and then when we 

reviewed CityCare beds in 2018 we found 

60% of patients could have been cared for 

elsewhere.   

 

In 2017/18, 335 elderly people aged over 65 

were admitted to care homes in 

Nottingham (887/1,000 pop = 12th highest 

nationally out of 152 Local Authorities), and 

987 in Nottinghamshire County (590/1,000 

pop = 78th). 

 

The evidence base for Personalised Care 

continues to grow – current statistics 

suggest that people who are confident to 

manage their health conditions (that is, 

people with higher levels of activation) have 

18% fewer GP contacts and 38% fewer 

emergency admissions than people with the 

least confidence.  

It is estimated that if we can provide greater 

proactive management and increase self- 

care activities then there is the opportunity 

to reduce our spend on Long Term 

Condition management by £12m in 2019/20 

across the ICS.  This would be achieved by 

reducing demand on acute hospital care 

and through re-investment of potential 

savings allow additional services to be 

developed in community based supporting 

infrastructure.   

Community pharmacies could play a 

significant role in supporting people to live 

well and reduce the need for urgent 

assistance. Expansion of services such as 

supervision of medication compliance, 

medicines support including adjustments 

and prescribing support along with wider 

offers such as advice on minor ailments 

has shown that there are significant 

benefits to the NHS of cost efficiencies 

worth £1.1 billion and avoided treatment 

costs worth £242 million.  In addition 

patients report time savings in reduced travel 

time and saved GP appointments.  

Understanding the changing needs of our 

population and local communities is 

essential and will be informed by the use of 

population health management data.  This 

work brings together health and social care 

factors and uses predictive analysis to help 

target interventions on a personalised basis. 

 

Page 62



 
 

$b1bittdg.docx Page 29 of 47 

 

MATERNITY, CHILDREN & FAMILIES 

There has been a focus on transforming 

maternity care across our ICS for some time 

and we now need to increase the pace and 

focus on delivery.   

We know that there is still a great deal to do 

to ensure that our children and their 

families have a great start in life.  For 

example, we have high proportion of 

mothers who smoke at the time of delivery 

(14.7% compared to England average at 

10.8%) and in addition there is a high still 

birth rate in Mansfield and Ashfield (5.1%) 

and in Nottingham City (5.2%) compared to 

the national average at (4.3%).  With the 

right targeted interventions we can make a 

dramatic improvement in this area. 

Maternity and family health will take a 

preconception-to-adulthood approach with 

the focus on ‘teams around the family’ 

operating largely through a community hub-

based model, working to avoid cycles of 

poor health outcomes. This approach will 

work to deliver the best start in life and 

make the best use of all contacts to prevent 

poor health outcomes for the whole family.  

Families will have a care navigator through 

their Primary Care Network who will pro-

actively help to access the right support at 

the right time in the right place. This single 

point of contact is vital for providing a 

family with consistency throughout the 

early years. 

Most services will operate best from a 

community hub where specialists can be co-

located, rather than in the home, although 

home visiting will be an option where 

appropriate for the patient.  

This pathway will be supported by 

consultant-led maternity services operating 

from the ICS’ two acute trusts.  Birth setting 

will be determined by patient choice, and 

the option of home birth (where clinically 

appropriate) will be presented alongside 

other options.   

Due to the breadth of the reviews for both 

Maternity and Children & Young People 

further pathway work is ongoing in the next 

phase of service reviews and it has been 

agreed that the two aspects will initially be 

separated to enable a detailed 

understanding of the emerging models of 

care and challenges for each element of 

service provision. 

PERSONALISED CARE  

Personalised care will mean that our citizens 

have choice and control over the way their 

care is planned and delivered, based on 

‘what matters’ to them and their individual 

preferences.   Personalised care is central to 

our new service models.  Working through 

the Primary Care Networks we will ensure 

that people have more options, better 

support, and properly joined-up care at the 

right time in the optimal care setting.  

Less than half of people in Nottinghamshire 

with a long term condition have had a 

conversation with a primary care Health 

Care Professional to discuss what is 

important to them, and a third don’t have 

an agreed care plan. 

 

Page 63



 
 

$b1bittdg.docx Page 30 of 47 

 

 

This shift in focus therefore represents a 

new relationship between people, 

professionals and the health and care 

system. It provides a positive change in 

power and decision making that enables 

people to feel informed, have a voice, be 

heard and be connected to each other and 

their communities. 

MANAGING LONG TERM (LTC) CONDITIONS 

People with long term health and care 

needs want to live as normally and 

independently as they can.  Despite the 

diversity of the range of conditions in terms 

of diagnosis and disease, people with a LTC 

progress through the same stages of 

intervention as other conditions. 

An ever increasing proportion of the 

population are living with a multiple range 

of health and care needs.  Whilst 

traditionally we may assume that this is 

isolated to older people, this is not the case.  

Older adults (65+) with functional needs i.e. 

Frailty are a major user of care services and 

have increasing risk of hospitalisation, 

increased length of stay and ultimately 

increased risk of needing long term care.  

However, there is an increasing proportion 

of children, young people and adults living 

with multiple long term conditions who 

require access to multiple services and 

specialities.   

An individual’s care needs will be met in the 

most appropriate place that their level of 

acuity dictates, but where-ever possible the 

default will be to provide holistic support 

services into a person’s home.  

Personalised health and care plans will be in 

place for every person who has a LTC and 

will be fully co-produced recognising that 

the patient and their carers are often 

experts in their own condition and care 

needs. 

Loneliness and social isolation are often 

associated with those with complex health 

care needs.  11% of people over 75 report 

feeling isolation and 21% report feeling 

lonely.  Strategies that enable people to be 

socially engaged, remain in employment 

where appropriate and continue with 

activities that give their life meaning also 

need to be integral within our clinical and 

community models. 

A key component of our Clinical and 

Community Strategy therefore needs to be 

a radical redesign of our approach to drive a 

proactive approach focusing on wellness 

and ‘what matters to me’ rather than an 

illness model of ‘what is wrong with me’. 

Page 64



 
 

$b1bittdg.docx Page 31 of 47 

 

MENTAL HEALTH 

An increasing number of people are now 

living with both physical LTCs such as 

respiratory or heart disease and mental 

health LTC’s such as dementia and 

alzheimers.  We need to clearly align our 

work in managing complex health needs 

with those contained with the mental 

health strategy to ensure system wide, 

integrated interventions that meet the 

needs of the whole person. 

SOCIAL CARE 

County, City and District Councils provide a 

wide range of community support to 

people, including preventative, housing, 

leisure and social care services.  They are 

therefore integral to achieving the 

objectives of the ICS and key partners across 

the system.   

Social care provides information and advice, 

short term reablement and long term 

support to enable the promotion of 

independence and well-being and to ensure 

that people understand the choices about 

how and where their ongoing care needs 

might be best met. 

Both the City and County Council partners in 

the ICS have their own adult social care 

strategies and transformation programmes  

and this clinical and community services 

strategy fully acknowledges the essential 

interface between this strategy and those 

developed with a focus on the provision of 

social care.  

 

 

We Need to;- 

 

 Ensure a single health and care record is 

available that is ultimately held by the 

patient and  shared across all 

organisations 

 Ensure an empowering, patient centred 

culture is in place that enables the 

conversations to be around ‘what 

matters to me as a person’  

 Change the skills of our workforce with 

a continued focus on multi-skilled 

practitioners able to deliver first line 

interventions with knowledge of when 

to refer to specialised staff 

 Support the community and voluntary 

sector to further extend its impact on 

outcomes through initiatives such as 

ending social isolation and self-care 

hubs 

 Link with the Population Health 

Management work to ensure 100% of 

the population  can be risk stratified by 

each PCN to proactively case manage 

those at risk of exacerbating LTC’s and 

losing independence and wellbeing 

 Ensure that care co-ordination is 

implemented in a standardised manner 

across all our PCNs to deliver clear 

support and sign-posting initially 

focusing on those with multiple co-

morbidities 

 Review the benefits to be achieved from 

telehealth and remote monitoring 

technologies in accordance with the 

Assistive Technologies Strategy 

 Confirm our approach to developing a 

single point of access (SPA) model 

across both an ICS or if more 

appropriate in each ICP footprint and 

Page 65



 
 

$b1bittdg.docx Page 32 of 47 

 

whether this is to be multi-agency and 

how it aligns with the Integrated Urgent 

Care roll out 

 Ensure systematic medication reviews 

for all people with multiple co-

morbidities 

 Complete the Better Births maternity 

review and implement the 

recommendations across our system 

 Develop our community hub model for 

maternity and family health services 

 Use assessment tools such as the 

Patient Activation Measure to build 

knowledge, skills and confidence with 

the person to self-manage and provide 

personalised solutions that meaningful 

to the individual 

 Use person centred conversations to 

understand where adjustments to the 

individual’s lifestyle could impact on 

their health, wellbeing and 

independence 

 

Key Outcomes 

 We will be systematically using readily 

accessible population level data to 

support segmentation and risk 

stratification. 

 A narrowing in the life expectancy gap 

and the healthy life years gap across our 

populations 

 Social Prescribers are in every Primary 

Care Network and are able to 

appropriately direct patients to a wide 

range of resources across their local 

community  

 Local Community Pharmacies will be a 

key first point of contact with 

appropriate local and national payment 

mechanisms in place to support this 

 Increased numbers of people have a 

single care co-ordinator to support them 

navigate and sign-post them to 

appropriate services 

 Increased proportion of people are able 

to access Personal Health Budgets 

 Those accessing services reporting: 

o Feeling more empowered to 

manage their condition and are able 

to access the right additional 

support when required 

o Receiving integrated, wrap around 

locally delivered care and support to 

meet their physical and mental 

health needs 

 Ensure we have outcome measures in 

place that measure the whole system 

of care for people with complex needs 

 A reduction in the number of people 

entering long term residential or 

nursing home care 

  

Page 66



 
 

$b1bittdg.docx Page 33 of 47 

 

CARE IN A CRISIS  

At different times in an individual’s life they 

may require access to crisis care to manage 

a sudden onset of illness or a traumatic 

event.  Our current models of managing 

these episodes are often predicated on 

patients themselves deciding whether their 

need is urgent or indeed an emergency or 

can be managed in a routine way through 

their GP.  

As a system we are facing a number of 

operational challenges in terms of achieving 

the required levels of service delivery for 

A&E.  This includes the 4 hour performance 

target.  For example, NUH has consistently 

underperformed with an average of 64.4% 

achieved in March 2019, but Sherwood 

Forest has also seen deteriorating 

performance at 91.7% in Q4.  Ambulance 

response times across our ICS are also 

longer than the required standards in all 

categories of response. 

 

At least 8,500 (11.6%) of emergency 

admissions per year are for COPD, stroke, 

heart failure, asthma, diabetes, heart 

attacks, angina and hypertension – many of 

which we have already identified are 

preventable conditions. Over 75s make up 

less than 10% of the ICS population, but 

account for a 1/3rd of emergency admissions 

and a half of emergency bed days. Two 

thirds of emergency inpatient beds are 

occupied by the over 65s (c. 1,000 

beds/day).  

 

Spending time in hospital when it could be 

avoided can be detrimental to a persons’ 

overall health - 35% of 70-year-old patients 

experience functional decline during hospital 

admission in comparison with their pre-illness 

baseline; for people over 90 this increases to 

65% therefore we should do everything 

possible to ensure we avoid any un-necessary 

hospital admissions or delays in to a person’s 

discharge.    

 

It is estimated that there is a significant 

financial saving opportunity if we could 

radically redesign the urgent and 

emergency care system with an opportunity 

potential of circa £14m across the ICS in 

2019/20. 

 

The individual’s perception of an emergency 

or urgent need may at times be somewhat 

different from the clinical opinion.   This 

disconnect may be due to a lack of 

knowledge, fear and anxiety or simply a 

desire for the convenience of getting their 

need met in a convenient and immediate 

manner.   

 

Therefore, a focus for the clinical strategy is 

in defining urgent, same day care in a way 

that is relevant to society and setting clear 

parameters for what a patient can 

consistently expect from different settings 

and how they will meet their individual 

needs.   

 

This will clarify for citizens what they should 

expect from emergency and urgent care 

settings as well as the different range of 

access to General Practice services both in 

and out of hours.  

 

Page 67



 
 

$b1bittdg.docx Page 34 of 47 

 

Emergency Care 

Emergency care is defined as being required 

immediately or within 4 hours of the injury 

or symptom commencement.  

Access to the emergency department will 

be triaged via the emergency ambulance or 

single front door to ensure people are 

directed to the appropriate level of service 

provision.   

Ambulance services are at the heart of the 

urgent and emergency care system and we 

need to ensure that our paramedics and 

ambulance crews have the skills and 

resources to enable more care to be 

delivered at home or settings outside of 

hospital, whilst at the same time working to 

reduce delays in hospital handovers. We will 

increasingly support ambulance decision 

making with technology and appropriate 

algorithms to support the correct 

management and care for a patient. 

Urgent Care 

Urgent care is defined as being required 

within a 4 - 24 hour period after the 

commencement of symptoms or diagnosis.   

The model of urgent care is still to be fully 

determined and will need to link into the 

developing Urgent Treatment Centres and 

to the Primary Care Networks.  The latter 

will have a key role to play in meeting the 

urgent/same day demand elements of the 

clinical model for those who have primary 

health care needs.   

The developing PCNs will ensure that 100% 

of practices are covered by extended hours 

access at evenings and weekends seven 

days a week and will support the delivery of 

a combined access offer including the NHS 

App and on-line booking options. 

In addition, PCNs will continue to develop 

innovative solutions to increase ‘streaming’ 

of patients so that they are able to offer 

convenient same day urgent appointments 

whilst preserving continuity of care for 

patients with more complex long-term 

conditions.     

Models to actively support people whose 

conditions are exacerbating to prevent a 

hospital admission are well developed in 

parts of the ICS.  Our Clinical and 

Community Services Strategy assumes that 

models such as ‘Call for Care’ will be 

available routinely for all of our population.  

This will enable the emergency ambulance 

service and both in-hours and out-of-hours 

General Practice to access a dedicated team 

to provide urgent, home based assessment 

and intervention within 2-4 hours.  This will 

enable people to safely stay in their own 

homes and prevent a hospital admission.  

We will aim for a consistent model of 

Emergency and Urgent care access across all 

parts of the ICS that is clearly 

communicated and understood by the 

public.  Our aim is that this will encourage 

appropriate usage of Emergency 

Department, Urgent Treatment Centres, 

General Practice and wider primary care 

services rather than the ongoing high levels 

of usage at hospital based emergency 

services. 

 

 

Page 68



 
 

$b1bittdg.docx Page 35 of 47 

 

We need to;- 

 Confirm our overall approach for 

accessing urgent levels of care to 

ensure appropriate signposting and 

consistency of offer to local alternatives 

such as Community Pharmacy 

 Develop a clear and coherent long term 

communication campaign in 

conjunction with the public to support 

ongoing behaviour change and align 

the public and clinicians expectations 

over service offers 

 Provide a web based, trustworthy 

source of localised information 

regarding self-help, advice and sign-

posting 

 Provide a single point of telephone 

access via NHS111 and the Clinical 

Assessment Service (CAS) that will 

intelligently triage all requests for care 

and signpost patients to the right point 

of care, including the capacity to make 

GP appointments in line with the 

requirements of the new GP Contract. 

 Develop the offer from each of our 

PCNs to enable appropriate on the day 

access balanced with the ability to 

preserve continuity of care 

 Develop a consistent model for a 

community hub and determine the 

locations for these across the ICS 

 Ensure a model that meets the key 

components of ‘Call for Care’ is 

available in all areas of Nottingham and 

Nottinghamshire 

 Ensure alignment of this model with 

the approach to support people who 

experience a mental health crisis 

 

Key Outcomes 

 Seamless integration across acute, 

community, primary and local authority 

crisis services.  This could include co-

location of a broad range of services 

within single sites or locality hubs to 

provide a ‘one stop shop’ approach.  

These should include physical, mental 

health, housing and social care and 

where appropriate wider community 

and voluntary sector services. 

 A standardised, consistent emergency 

and urgent care offer across all the 

whole of the ICS 

 Reduced demand on the hospital 

emergency department and the 

ambulance service 

 The public reporting increased 

confidence in being able to access 

emergency department alternatives in 

the wider community  

 Delivery of the ED performance targets 

and an improved outcome and 

experience of care for those who need 

to use crisis services 

 Parity of service offer whether the crisis 

is related to a mental health or physical 

health care need 

 

  

Page 69



 
 

$b1bittdg.docx Page 36 of 47 

 

MANAGING ILLNESS 

There is an expectation that most people at 

some point in their lives will require support 

to manage an episode of illness.  Again, the 

aim here is to agree with the person what it 

is they want to achieve and provide specific 

support and intervention that meets those 

needs and enables them to return back to 

living a healthy and fulfilling life.   

We recognise that our previous systems and 

processes have created services that are 

confusing and inequitable across our whole 

ICS.  Nationally it’s been estimated that up 

to 50% of patients attending General 

Practice have conditions that may not need 

a GP and could be treated by less qualified 

staff.  

Previous work across the ICS has 

demonstrated that most of the elective or 

planned care activity currently takes place 

in hospitals resulting in people travelling to 

a main hospital site for care that could 

equally be delivered closer to home.  Phase 

2 of outpatient transformation work has the 

potential to release £5.6m of costs in 

2019/20 if we develop different models of 

delivering planned care services. 

We are not consistently delivering the 

required performance targets and some of 

these contacts are not always valuable e.g. 

Procedures of Limited Clinical Value (PLCV) 

and some outpatient appointments.   

Our Clinical and Community Services 

Strategy and the ongoing service reviews 

will therefore focus on the fundamental 

principle to reduce variation and drive 

standardisation in outcomes for the whole 

population.  This will require common 

pathways across primary, secondary and 

tertiary care and with social care to ensure 

there is consistency in entry and exit points 

when people find themselves needing care 

and support to manage episodes of illness. 

Planned Care 

Planned care is defined as care that is non-

urgent, for which the patient receives a pre-

arranged appointment and is either a self-

referral or via a clinical referral.  

A key principle in reviewing our planned 

care services is to ensure we reduce 

variation and drive standardisation where 

appropriate in order to reduce duplication 

and improve equity of service delivery and 

outcomes.    

Considerable work has already been 

undertaken across the ICS to improve the 

pathways of planned care, from developing 

standard referral guidelines in a number of 

specialities to redesigning some clinical 

pathways such as Musculo-Skeletal services 

(MSK) and gynaecology. 

The Clinical and Community Services 

Strategy development is therefore working 

alongside these ongoing programmes of 

work and assumes that as we move forward 

all pathway reviews for planned care will 

take on a whole patient journey perspective 

and cover all aspects of care from referral to 

discharge with ongoing care in a person’s 

place of residence where appropriate. 

A key assumption of the clinical and 

community strategy is that increasingly a 

Page 70



 
 

$b1bittdg.docx Page 37 of 47 

 

greater proportion of planned care will take 

place in a community setting.  This will 

include the delivery of first and follow-up 

outpatient appointments on both a face-to-

face basis and via the use of telephone or 

video technology.   

It also assumes that the level of surgical 

intervention will decrease for an increasing 

proportion of patients who, through being 

full chose not to have an active surgical 

intervention but are managed through 

alternative means such as ongoing 

physiotherapy and support. 

Perioperative care will increasingly take 

place out of hospital settings, in community 

locations, utilising a range of near patient 

diagnostics and outreach services supported 

by technology.   

The utilisation of designated planned care 

facilities will support the system to enable 

consistent delivery of planned care, 

irrelevant of pressures on emergency 

services. 

ACUTE AND SPECIALIST CARE 

Although care at home is the preferable 

option wherever possible, the model 

accepts that home may not at times to be 

able to provide the level of support, 

expertise or environment required.  

Hospital beds will be provided where these 

are the appropriate option agreed by the 

patient and care team.  

We will build on the national direction of 

travel towards the centralisation of 

specialised services being provided in larger 

centres where this is appropriate to do so 

and it is based on associated improved 

clinical outcomes and the development of 

network models of delivery. 

Nottingham and Nottinghamshire has a 

significant range of specialised services 

provided in both physical and mental health 

care and we will concentrate our expertise 

on developing these services and being at 

the forefront of innovation.  

Specialist care can also extend to our 

expertise in specialised diagnostic areas 

(e.g. PET CT, Medical Genetics) and we will 

continue to work with key partners locally 

and nationally to ensure that the citizens of 

Nottingham and Nottinghamshire have 

appropriate and timely access to the latest 

technologies.  

Cancer Care 

Prevention of cancer is equally as important 

as the diagnosis and treatment and we 

recognise the importance of national 

screening programmes and maximising 

uptake into these via Primary Care 

Networks and communication campaigns at 

both a national and local level.  To date our 

ICS screening rates for bowel, breast and 

cervical cancer across Nottinghamshire are 

all above the national average rates 

although they are below the national 

average in the Nottingham City population. 

 

We have a good track record of achieving 

the targets for seeing people within 14 days 

if they are referred for a suspected cancer 

and 5,600 people were newly diagnosed 

with cancer in 2016/17 which is roughly in 

line with the national incidence rate. 

However, we have difficulties in meeting 

Page 71



 
 

$b1bittdg.docx Page 38 of 47 

 

the 62 day wait standards and are failing to 

meet the surgical treatment of cancer 

within 31 days.   

 

Diagnosing cancer will continue to take 

place in acute hospital settings for the 

foreseeable future, but it’s anticipated over 

the life of this strategy that this will shift 

increasingly into community-based settings 

as technological advances support different 

diagnostic approaches.  Referral processes 

will be a combination of GP direct access 

and patient self-referral if clear and obvious 

cancer symptoms are present. 

 

We envisage that an increasing number of 

treatments will be undertaken closer to 

home through mobile chemotherapy and 

immunotherapy services. Treatment should 

be supported by an MDT, attached to a 

Primary Care Network and will be the key 

mechanism to link the patient with other 

support e.g. mental health outside of the 

defined cancer treatment.  

Post-discharge care will increasingly shift to 

community or home settings, delivered 

either in primary care or by an expanded 

community cancer workforce who are able 

to undertake better assessment of need and 

reduce the requirement for crisis 

management.  

We need to:- 

 Ensure we develop standard referral 

guidelines and planned care pathways 

that reduce variation and improve 

equity of outcomes for our population 

 Ensure specialist care and cancer service 

developments deliver the appropriate 

models of centralisation and ensure 

outreach services are in place 

 Continue to scope the required 

community infrastructure and capacity 

to support the shift to out of hospital 

models of community care 

 

Key Outcomes 

 Consistency of offer and delivery at all 

levels of care 

 Timely access to care in the right 

location with reduced delays in 

transfers of care 

 Care co-ordinated across defined 

pathways underpinned by integrated 

technology and health care record. 

 Improved outcomes in early diagnosis 

and cancer survival rates 

 

  

Page 72



 
 

$b1bittdg.docx Page 39 of 47 

 

END OF LIFE 

End of life care is the part of palliative care 

which follows from the diagnosis of a 

terminal illness where cure is no longer 

possible and the patient is entering the 

process of dying. 

There is increasing acknowledgement of the 

growing palliative and end of life care needs 

for people with non-cancer diagnosis, and 

our emerging new care models around End 

of Life Care support the growing national 

policy direction. 

End of life care national statistics indicate 

that currently; 

 1% of the population dies each year in 

the UK 

 Only 25% of deaths are from cancer  

 46.9% die in hospital and 46% in their 

usual place of residence 

70% of people do not die where they 

choose 

Increasingly people are using a Preferred 

Priorities for Care document to write down 

what their wishes and preferences are 

during the last year or months of their life. It 

includes their individual views on what is 

important to them and where they would like 

to die. 

Across our ICS 48.8% of deaths occur in 

hospital compared to the national average.  

There is also a differential across our system 

with 53.1% in Nottingham City compared to 

44.4% in Rushcliffe. 

 

The term ‘end of life care’ is used by 

different people to mean different things, 

since this phase could vary between 

months, weeks, days or hours in the context 

of different disease trajectories. This Clinical 

and Community Services Strategy assumes 

that End of Life services will be based on the 

needs of the individual rather than a 

predetermined period of time.  It is 

however anticipated that it will include 

people who are likely to die within the next 

12 months who have; 

 Advanced, progressive, incurable 

conditions 

 General frailty and co-existing 

conditions that mean they are expected 

to die within12 months 

 Existing conditions if they are at risk of 

dying from a sudden acute crisis in their 

condition 

 Life-threatening acute conditions 

caused by sudden catastrophic events 

Palliative care is an approach that improves 

the quality of life of patients and their 

families through the prevention and relief of 

suffering by means of early identification, 

assessment and treatment of pain and 

other problems, physical, psychological and 

spiritual.  It is based on the following 

palliative care principles: 

 A focus on quality of life which includes 

good symptom control 

 A whole person approach which takes 

into account the person and those that 

matter to them  

 Respect for patient autonomy and 

choice 

 Emphasis on open and sensitive 

communication 

Page 73



 
 

$b1bittdg.docx Page 40 of 47 

 

Our system has already undertaken 

considerable work in the Mid 

Nottinghamshire locality to develop an 

integrated service specification around a 

‘community hub’ model of care to enable 

patients to be cared for as close to home as 

possible.  These will be fully aligned with the 

ongoing clinical strategy work.   

When end of life decisions are required, the 

lead clinical role should come from the 

Primary Care Network Multi-Disciplinary 

Team (MDT) regardless of clinical setting. 

This may be supported by living wills which 

can be shared with clinicians as required.  

Specialist palliative care will be available to 

support the MDT team for those people 

with more complex palliative care needs. 

Specialist palliative care is provided by 

specially trained multi-professionals and can 

be accessed in any care setting.  Advice 

regarding symptoms and medications, or a 

wider discussion of the patient’s current 

situation including the appropriate 

provision of in-patient, community, day care 

or hospice and out-patient services is a key 

feature of the emerging model.  

The specialist team is complemented by 

chaplaincy, therapists and psychology 

services working alongside a wider team of 

nursing staff to deliver the care required 

across the different aspects of the service. 

We need to;- 

 Ensure conversations regarding end of 

life are based around the wishes of the 

person and those that matter to them 

and that these are clearly documented 

and shared across the MDT 

 Ensure Primary Care is able to take a 

lead role in managing the end of life 

needs of their local population 

 Develop partnership working across the 

system (PCNs and Specialist Palliative 

Care teams) to ensure the appropriate 

support is available to enable people to 

die at their preferred location 

 Ensure end of life care is appropriately 

developed for all people who are dying, 

and extends beyond those dying from 

cancer 

 Extend the use of enhanced summary 

care records and the use of a portal so 

that people’s end of life wishes are 

readily available for all service providers 

irrelevant of care setting 

Key Outcomes 

 An increase in the number of people 

dying in their preferred location 

 An increase in the number of families 

and carers reporting feeling supported 

and aware of where to seek help and 

support in times of crisis 

 An increase in the number of people 

with a living will that clearly outlines 

their wishes that has been shared with 

their clinical teams 

Page 74



 
 

$b1bittdg.docx Page 41 of 47 

 

6. DELIVERING OUR NEW 

MODELS OF CARE 

In order to ensure that our delivery models 

develop in a coherent and systematic 

approach our system is developing across 3 

levels of collaboration;  

 Primary Care Networks (PCNs) 

consisting of integrated health and care 

teams linking with wider local authority 

housing and community services across 

neighbourhood localities 

 Integrated Care Providers (ICPs) 

facilitating the integrated provision and 

delivery of outcomes for the population.  

Three ICPs have been agreed - Mid 

Notts, South Notts and Nottingham City 

 Integrated Care System (ICS) for the 

whole of Nottingham and 

Nottinghamshire 

 

The Clinical and Community Services 

Strategy starts to define what needs to be 

delivered and to some extent, where and 

when that care needs to be delivered in our 

future vision.   

This will continue to be developed further 

during the next stage of the strategy 

development. However, its success is to 

some extent entirely dependent on the 3 

levels of the system continuing to 

collaborate, develop and mature into 

effective commissioning and integrated 

delivery structures.  

Integrated Place Based Care  

The notion of ‘place’ and ‘neighbourhoods’ 

have become increasingly important in 

health and care policy.  Alongside the 

development of this clinical services 

strategy there has been a significant 

amount of work to develop the vision and 

model for delivery at a place level in our 

ICPs and at a neighbourhood level in our 

PCNs.   

Primary Care Networks 

General Practice accounts for nine out of 

ten patient contacts within the NHS and 

plays a crucial role in providing urgent care, 

coordinating and providing chronic disease 

management, health promotion and early 

intervention and in supporting people to 

manage their own care.   

PCNs will work together with other local 

health and care providers around natural 

local communities to provided coordinated 

care through the development of   

integrated neighbourhood teams.   ‘Primary 

Care’ is defined as first line services such as; 

general practice, community services, 

mental health, voluntary sector and social 

care etc.  

The PCNs will utilise Population Health 

Management (PHM) intelligence and 100% 

population risk stratification to proactively 

identify and co-ordinate the care 

management of their neighbourhood 

population. 

Our aim that PCNs will work collaboratively 

to focus on prevention and personalised 

care, supporting patients to make informed 

decisions about their care and look after 

their own health by connecting them with 

the full range of statutory and voluntary 

services.  To achieve this we aim to have a 

Page 75



 
 

$b1bittdg.docx Page 42 of 47 

 

core consistent “community hub” offer 

across the ICS so that the range of services 

is understood by professionals and public 

alike.  This will increase confidence in access 

of these services and over time enable 

ongoing reductions in hospital based 

provision. 

The new models of care will incorporate the 

provision for local pharmacies to provide 

consistent low acuity urgent care services 

dealing with minor conditions and 

accurately signposting people with higher 

levels of need to the appropriate services.   

The ability for pharmacies to support the 

self-care agenda should not be 

underestimated as part of both the 

management of long-term conditions and 

for those with an urgent care need. 

Integrated Care Partnerships  

Our three ICPs will undertake integrated 

provision and coordination of care, holding 

a clear contract value for what the providers 

are commissioned to deliver. This may 

result in ultimately moving towards 

capitated budgets in accordance with 

national policy intentions. 

Our ICPs are an aggregation of the relevant 

Primary Care Networks (PCNs) and all other 

services that support health and wellbeing 

within their defined place.  They will 

observe the overriding principle of equity of 

access to universal and targeted services to 

address health and wellbeing. 

They will collaborate with other ICPs in the 

ICS to ensure consistency of entry and exit 

points for patients using the services of 

providers who are partners with more than 

one ICP. 

Integrated Care System 

The ICS is a collaboration of equal partners 

working to system wide objectives.  The ICS 

is responsible for ensuring that appropriate 

strategies are in place to invest our 

resources in what we know works and to 

ensure culture change through removing 

blocks to integrated care. 

The aim of the ICS is to both increase the 

duration of people’s lives and to improve 

those additional years, allowing people to 

live longer, happier, healthier and more 

independently into their old age.   

The ICS will work through the three ICPs and 

PCNs to ensure a comprehensive health and 

care offer is equitably available to all of our 

citizens.  This strategy clearly articulates the 

need to blur the organisational boundaries 

between all sectors of health and care 

provision.  This will inevitably require strong 

organisational leadership and a balance of 

the necessary trade-offs that will be 

required to support the transition periods 

as we move from the old to the new models 

of care with associated activity, income and 

workforce consequences. 

Page 17 outlines the agreed facilities that 

will be significant for service provision into 

the future and our ICS will be working 

collaboratively with the main service 

providers and through the ICPs to ensure 

that patients who require hospital based 

care can access this swiftly and safely.  

When a person’s medical care requirements 

have been met then their discharge or 

Page 76



 
 

$b1bittdg.docx Page 43 of 47 

 

transfer of care to the PCN teams needs to 

be smooth and seamless. 

The following schematic demonstrates our 

vision of working at system, place and 

neighbourhood population levels detailing 

what should happen where in order to 

ensure the right activities for the right 

population levels. 

 

 

 

  

Page 77



 
 

$b1bittdg.docx Page 44 of 47 

 

This strategy provides a framework and 

agreed direction against which future 

service reviews will be undertaken.  The 

aggregate impacts of the ongoing service 

reviews will provide key requirements for 

the future development of other supporting 

areas in the ICS including;- 

Informatics and Technology Strategy 

The delivery of an integrated shared care 

record cannot be under-emphasised if our 

strategic intent is to be met.  We have made 

significant progress in system inter-

operability and development of the Care 

Centric Portal but the aspirations around 

the development of a single health and care 

record need to be clarified and remain a 

system priority. 

Estates Strategy 

This strategy and the output of the ongoing 

service reviews will be essential in guiding 

decisions about where individual services 

are located and the consequential 

investment in estates and infrastructure 

that is required.  

The system has already outlined a number 

of estate priorities in terms of acute services 

infrastructure and the outputs from the 

ongoing service reviews will clearly identify 

the associated community infrastructure 

necessary. 

Workforce Strategy 

The ICS has developed a People and Culture 

strategy.  There is an urgent need to 

continue to review the range of skills 

needed and develop different types of roles 

that will enable us to have workforce that is 

agile and fit for the future.  

Where necessary, consolidation of 

workforce and integration of provision will 

allow specialists to offer more effective 

support within a single setting and then 

provide a hub and spoke model to other 

locations to ensure economies of scale, 

maximise expertise and improve outcomes. 

Hospital based activity will reduce in the 

new models of care and the specialist 

workforce necessary to support our acute 

hospitals will increasingly support outreach 

models of care to support generalist care in 

the community. 

Demand & Capacity Modelling 

Shifts in activity from acute hospital settings 

to a community facing delivery models are 

fully anticipated as a consequence of this 

clinical and community strategy.  It is also 

anticipated that there may be some 

relocation of services as a consequence of 

the service reviews that will require closer 

consideration and potentially public 

consultation. 

There is a clear need for a system wide 

demand and capacity modelling approach 

to enable us to better understand the size 

and volume of activities that will take place 

in each sector as a consequence of the new 

pathways of care and service models.  The 

current approach of each organisation 

modelling individual elements of impact is 

not sustainable and needs to be fully 

reviewed. 

Page 78



 
 

$b1bittdg.docx Page 45 of 47 

 

7. NEXT PHASE OF STRATEGY 

DEVELOPMENT 

New models of care, workforce and 

commissioning must reflect whole patient 

journeys and providers within our ICS have 

already recognised that they will need to 

adapt, integrate and collaborate to 

accommodate this approach. 

Our clinical models distinguish between the 

imperative of developing sustainable 

services designed around entire patient 

journeys which cross organisational 

boundaries and at this stage we have not 

assessed the impact on individual providers 

who will play a part in delivering care for 

part of those journeys.   

The development of this Clinical and 

Community Services Strategy has not been 

undertaken in isolation.  There are already a 

number of well-established groups 

exploring new service models for certain 

patient cohorts and taking forward evidence 

based care across the system.  A number of 

these were explored as part of the first 

phase of workshops for the clinical strategy 

and these have not been duplicated, but we 

will complement and learn from each other 

as the systematic reviews move forward. 

There is a need to ensure continual 

alignment with various other plans and 

system wide initiatives including the ICS Five 

Year Strategic Plan, the mental health 

strategy delivery plan and the 

implementation of the Urgent Treatment 

Centre requirements.  

 

ONGOING SERVICE REVIEWS 

This Clinical and Community Services 

Strategy is only one component of the 

whole system review that is required.  We 

are also taking forward a systematic review 

process of our ‘end to end’ pathways of 

care – from a patient first noticing they have 

a symptom or need through diagnosis, 

treatment and discharge to the 

management of ongoing care needs or end 

of life care. 

This is an extensive system wide piece of 

work which will ultimately take place across 

a minimum of 20 services.  The CSS 

Programme Board have reviewed these 

services against a range of quantitative and 

qualitative criteria and agreed the 

prioritisation of six services reviews which 

have all now commenced.  These include; 

 Cardio Vascular Disease – Stroke  

 Respiratory – COPD and Asthma 

 Frailty 

 Children and Young People 

 Colorectal Services 

 Maternity and Neonates 

 

These reviews will enable the long term ICS 

programme of change to be developed to 

deliver these New Care Models and to 

inform what the future requirements are for 

estate and workforce in particular but also 

technology.  

  

Page 79



 
 

$b1bittdg.docx Page 46 of 47 

 

8. CONCLUSION 

The Clinical and Community Services 

Strategy starts to define what needs to be 

delivered and to some extent, where and 

when that care needs to be delivered in our 

future vision.   

This will continue to be developed further 

during the next stage of the strategy 

development. However, its success is to 

some extent entirely dependent on the 

three levels of our system continuing to 

collaborate, develop and mature into 

effective commissioning and integrated 

delivery structures.  

Fundamental within our new service models 

is the principle that more care will be 

delivered closer to people’s homes rather 

than in a central hospital based location. 

Prevention and population health 

management will drive a pro-active model 

of care that will target interventions and 

reduce the overall burden of ill-health.   

In order for this to be achieved there needs 

to be a significant review of the 

infrastructure that is currently available to 

enable this shift in focus to take place. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Whilst providing convenient services close 

to home is important, patient choice and 

‘what matters to me’ is equally as important 

as clinical expertise in terms of assessment 

of need.  However, both the timeliness of 

the response and the level of care required 

will be the key determining factors in 

deciding upon the location that care is 

delivered.  

We have a compelling need for change, 

driven by the changing needs of our local 

population, financial and workforce drivers 

and by the need to ensure we are 

consistently offering the best evidence 

based services for all of our citizens.    

Taking forward the key recommendations in 

this clinical and community services strategy 

will offer the system a strategic framework 

within which it can aim to achieve its 

aspirations and vision for improving the 

health and well-being of the population of 

Nottingham and Nottinghamshire. 

 

1. 2

4

/

7

 

s

e

r

v

i

c

e

 

p

Page 80



 
 

$b1bittdg.docx Page 47 of 47 

 

DOCUMENT CONTROL 

 

Document Review  

Date Version Reviewer Role Status 

7/4/19 V1.0 Angela Potter Programme 

Director 

Initial drafting 

10/4/19 v.1.3 AP/DH  Addition of comments from DH 

23/4/19 V1.6 AP  Re-presentation following feedback 

from TT  

26/4/19 V1.7 AP/DH  Ongoing review 

21/5/19 V1.8 AP  Working Draft - updates following 

comments from members of CSS 

Board and Design Group 

31/5/19 V1.9 AP  Working draft – updates from Alex 

Ball 

04/06/19 V2.0 DH  Final Draft for ICS Board 

Document Approval  

Date Version Reviewer Role Status 

26/4/19 V1.7 Clinical Strategy 

Board 

Programme Board Working Draft 

21/5/19 V1.8 Sub-group  CSS Working Draft 

 
 

 

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank



 

HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

11 JULY 2019 

HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME  

REPORT OF HEAD OF LEGAL AND GOVERNANCE 

 
1. Purpose  
 
1.1 To consider the Committee’s work programme.  
 
2. Action required 
  
2.1 The Committee is asked to consider the Committee’s work programme 

for 2019/20.  
 
3. Background information  
 
3.1 The Health Scrutiny Committee is responsible for carrying out the 

overview and scrutiny role and responsibilities for health and social 
care matters and for exercising the Council’s statutory role in 
scrutinising health services for the City.  

 
3.2 The Committee is responsible for setting and managing its own work 

programme to fulfil this role. In setting a programme for scrutiny 
activity, the Committee should aim for an outcome-focused work 
programme that has clear priorities and a clear link to its roles and 
responsibilities. The work programme needs to be flexible so that 
issues which arise as the year progresses can be considered 
appropriately. This is likely to include consultations from health service 
commissioners and providers about substantial variations and 
developments in health services that the Committee has statutory 
responsibilities in relation to.  

 
3.3 Where there are a number of potential items that could be scrutinised 

in a given year, consideration of what represents the highest priority or 
area of risk will assist with work programme planning. Changes and/or 
additions to the work programme will need to take account of the 
resources available to the Committee.  

 
3.4 A draft work programme for 2019/20 has been developed, based on 

ongoing pieces of work and areas of work already identified by the 
Committee. The Committee is asked to review the draft work 
programme adding, amending and deleting items as appropriate. The 
Committee may also wish to identify additional items for potential 
consideration, including proposed focus and key lines of enquiry.  

 

Page 83

Agenda Item 8



 

4. List of attached information 
 
4.1 List of items for consideration and inclusion on the 2019/20 Work 

Programme. 
 
5. Background papers, other than published works or those 

disclosing exempt or confidential information  
 
5.1 None  
 
6. Published documents referred to in compiling this report  
 
6.1 None. 
 
7 Wards affected 
 
7.1 All. 
 
8 Contact information 
 
8.1 Zena West, Senior Governance Officer 
 Zena.west@nottinghamcity.gov.uk 
 0115 8764305 
 

Page 84

mailto:Zena.west@nottinghamcity.gov.uk


 

 

Health Scrutiny Committee 2019/20 Work Programme  

 
DATE ITEMS CONTACT 

12 September 
2019 

Update on progress of targeted intervention services Public Health 

Update on progress of GP Forward View CCG 

Healthwatch Annual Report (TO NOTE) Healthwatch 

Review progress in reducing teenage pregnancies 
Nottingham Teenage Pregnancy Taskforce (Marie 

Cann-Livingstone / Helene Denness) 

17 October 
2019 

Pre consultation business case for the Defence and National Rehabilitation 
Centre 

Greater Nottingham CCP (Sam Marlow, Lucy 
Dadge) 

Emergency Pathways Transformation update NUH 

Planning for Winter pressures NUH 

Update on gluten free food prescriptions CCG 

Update on prescribing over the counter medication CCG 

14 November 
2019 

Update on Treatment Centre Mobilisation (WRITTEN or  verbal TBC) CCG 

Review of CityCare’s provision of Out of Hospital Community Services 
Contract 

CityCare / CCG 

Update on inpatient detoxification services (WRITTEN) Framework 

12 December 
2019 

Update on implementation of Homecare Services model Homecare Services 

Progress of young people’s mental health and wellbeing services Notts Healthcare Trust 

16 January 
2020 

  

13 February 
2020 

  

12 March 2020   

16 April 2020   

 
DATE ITEMS CONTACT 

Unscheduled Addiction to prescription medications  

Unscheduled 
Care Quality Commission 

Issues and priorities in Nottingham 
CQC 

Unscheduled Role of Local Pharmacies Local Pharmaceutical Committee / NHS England 

Unscheduled East Midlands Ambulance Service – Nottinghamshire Division EMAS (Emily Dunn / Greg Cox) 

Unscheduled Extension of HPV immunisation programme 
NHS England (Annie Tasker, Screening and 

Immunisation Manager) 
Public Health (TBC) 

P
age 85



 

 

DATE ITEMS CONTACT 

Unscheduled Future configuration of head and neck cancer services NHS England 

Unscheduled Nottingham Treatment Centre Procurement CCG 

Unscheduled Green Paper on Social Care  

Unscheduled Green Paper on Prevention  

Unscheduled Suicide Prevention Plan 
(Suicide Prevention Steering Group - Jane Bethea, 

Caroline Cook) 
(originally scheduled for June) 

Unscheduled Mental Health Plan (originally scheduled for June) 

   

 
Other informal meetings attended by the Chair 

 Briefings with Greater Nottingham Clinical Commissioning Groups 

 Briefings with Portfolio Holder for Adult Social Care and Health  

 Nottinghamshire County Council Health Scrutiny Committee Chair 

 Regional health scrutiny chairs network  

 Nottingham University Hospitals NHS Trust Chief Executive  

 Nottinghamshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust Chief Executive  
 
 

 

P
age 86


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	5 Cleanliness at NUH Trust Hospitals
	6 Flu Immunisation Programme
	appendix 1 - flu immunisation

	7 ICS Clinical Services Strategy
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	8 Health Scrutiny Work Programme
	Appendix 1


